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Prime Super has been managing working Australian’s  
retirement savings for around a quarter of a century. Forged 
as the super fund for farmers and agriculture, in recent years 
Prime Super expanded its focus to the regions of Australia more 
generally and then to the Health and Aged Care sectors. Most 
recently a partnership was formed with the RCSA to enable  
a strategic positioning in the recruitment sector and members 
from Combined Super were welcomed in January 2019 to  
form the Education Division.
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About  
Prime Super

Our Vision 

To be a major multi-industry  
profit for members  
superannuation fund.

Values 

Honesty 
We act honestly and are 

open and transparent in all 

our dealings – members 

can trust the information 

they receive 

Accountability 

We work to clear objectives  

and hold ourselves 

accountable – members are 

assured by the integrity of 

the information they receive

Respect 
Treat all we deal with in a 

courteous and professional 

manner – members can 

feel confident to contact 

us with any questions they 

may have and have their 

request dealt with 

We care; we streamline;  
we empower.

Our Mission

To contribute to the financial 
growth and security of our 
members’ superannuation 
accounts.
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At a glance 
2019

Funds under  
management

Net investment  
income

Benefits paid  
to members

Insurance benefits  
paid to members

$5.2B (2018–19)

$3.9B (2017–18)

$328.2M (2018–19)

$326M  (2017–18)

$18.2M (2018–19)

$24.1M  (2017–18)

$293.7M (2018–19)

$228M  (2017–18)

Financial highlights

Accumulation

Our members Engagement measures

Income stream

Total number of members

128,372
115,800 (2017–18) 

Average account balance  
of a Prime Super member

$34,096
$28,690 (2017–18) 

Invested in the MySuper option

89%
95.5% (2017–18)

Total number of members

1,631
1,119 (2017–18)

Average account balance  
of a Prime Super member

$223,895
$176,299 (2017–18)

Invested in the Balanced option

63%
75.4% (2017–18)

Member online registrations

42,477

Digital Member Card downloads

4,772

Mobile app downloads

3,465
Roll ins to Prime Super

$91.0M

Investment switches

1,224

Voluntary contributions

$33.1M 
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investments over the long-term while 
considering reduced risk. Members who 
seek moderate-to-high returns over 
the long term and have a strong ethical 
conviction may consider this option 
suitable for them. Either on its own,  
or as part of a mix with other options.

In response to increasing understanding  
of the effects of climate change, the Fund 
has also developed a Climate Change 
Policy. A crucial issue for the globe and 
investment, we now consider these issues 
on a regular basis.

Zero admin fees from 1 July  
for some members
With the government’s Protecting Your 
Super (“PYS”) reform taking effect 
from 1 July 2019, Prime Super assessed 
the impact of these initiatives on its 
membership and was pleased to announce 
that members with balances below $6,000 
will not be charged administration fees 
from then.

There has been speculation that the PYS 
reforms will force fees up as super funds 
are required to transfer large numbers 
of inactive account balances to the ATO. 
From 1 July, members with balances below 
$6,000 will not be charged administration 
fees. Pleasingly, Prime Super is in a 
position that allows a fee reduction 
for members with low balances. This 
change to the fee structure will deliver a 
very positive outcome to those with an 
account balance of $6,000 or less; the fee 
structure for all other members will remain 
unchanged.

Another PYS initiative is to ban all exit fees, 
including any charged on part withdrawals. 
Prime Super has not charged exit fees 
since 1 July 2013 and there will be no 
change to this practice as a result of this 
measure.

Income Streams awarded
Prime Super was delighted to be awarded 
a five star rating from Canstar for its 
Income Streams retirement offering. 

It was one of only six super funds to 
receive this rating and we were the 
ONLY fund to receive five stars for two 
investment options in Canstar's Balanced 
investment options – Balanced and 
Managed Growth. This is great news for 
members in our income stream product. 

Increased transition  
into retirement offering 
We are pleased to report a pleasing trend 
of an increasing number of members 
who continue to stay with the fund at the 
point of retirement. These members are 
transitioning into the Income Streams 
product where they can draw a regular 
payment stream rather than taking out 
benefits in lump sum. We believe this is a 
great option for members as it assists them 
to manage their income and the remaining 
balance continues to earn interest for them. 

Continued focus on  
retirement phase 
The retirement phase will continue to grow 
as an increasing number of workers retire 
and the balances they bring to retirement 
are higher. 

While the Superannuation Guarantee has 
been around since 1992, it’s only since 
2002 that it became a relatively significant 
amount. Initially, the amount was two then 
three per cent of salary with the jump to 
nine per cent in 2002 and with the current 
rate of 9.5% expected to rise in increments 
to 12% from July 2025 the level of funds 
under management in retirement products 
could grow significantly.

We are just starting to see the Baby 
Boomers retire which is the first generation 
of workers who have had superannuation 
contributed to their accounts for a number 
of years. 

This signals the beginning of a continued 
period of growth for super funds’ 
retirement products as members look for 
good products to house their investment. 
Prime Super will be putting a big focus on 
informing members, and potential 

members, that they do not need to join  
or set up a new super fund. 

Member satisfaction and the 
needs of younger members 
Prime Super continued its focus on 
member research this year with projects to 
look at member satisfaction and also the 
particular needs of our younger members. 
Results showed that members are overall 
quite satisfied with the fund where eight 
in ten (78%) members reported some 
degree of satisfaction and only 6% were 
dissatisfied.

Pleasingly, results showed that the  
majority of young members who change 
jobs choose to remain with Prime Super. 
For example, the fund has a strong 
reputation with younger members from  
the agricultural sector and three in four  
are satisfied with the fund overall. 

Also while Prime Super offers a range of 
products and services to members many 
members are not aware of the full suite 
of options available to them. Another 
challenge is that young members admit 
to lacking knowledge and understanding 
of superannuation generally, which is 
impacting their perception of the importance 
of superannuation in their lives now. 

A number of initiatives are in place to raise 
that awareness, including an increased 
focus on social media and member visits.

It’s been a busy year and we have no doubt 
the upcoming year will be just as busy. 
Member services remains our top priority 
and we look forward to updating our 
‘report card’ again in another year.

Thanks to all our members and  
employers for their continued support.

 
 Alan Bowman 
Chairman

Lachlan Baird 
Chief Executive 
Officer

Chair and  
CEO’s message

As a result we recently confirmed to 
members that returns are strong over the 
long term for most of our options and 
also highlighted the range of investment 
options available to them. That means 
members can invest in what they need, 
when they need it.

Investment performance 
acknowledged 
We are pleased to report strong returns 
across investment options for members. 
For example, our MySuper option – where 
most members are invested – placed us in 
the top quartile of super funds assessed 
over three, five and seven years, and 
delivered an 8.53% return over a 10 year 
period (second quartile*).

Other highlights include the Property and 
Australian Equities options which placed 
us in the top quartile over a five, seven and 
10 year rolling period, and above average 
returns for most investment options.

More than 88% of our members are 
invested in our MySuper options and 
research** shows that if a member started 
with $35,000 ten years ago, their balance 
would have grown 2.2 times.

Prime Super was delighted to be named 
in the prestigious Selecting Super Awards, 
where it was a finalist in four investment 
categories and was the winner of the 
Best Investment performance – Property 
category. 

The acknowledgment by Selecting Super 
was further recognition of our quality 
investment performance.

Our focus is to develop investment 
options so that members can choose 
the one that best suits their objectives 

for their retirement and it is important 
to acknowledge the key role that our 
investment advisers – Whitehelm Capital 
– play in developing investment strategies 
for members. 

Whitehelm have provide strategic and 
timely advice to Prime Super over a 
number of years and we feel that they have 
the members’ best interest when they are 
assessing options for us to consider. 

Education Division welcomes 
Combined Super 
A major highlight of the year for the business 
was welcoming Combined Super members. 
Around 10,000 members from schools 
around Australia joined Prime Super on  
1 January and five Directors joined the  
Prime Super Board. This added about  
$1 billion to our funds under management 
which can provide valuable scale for 
investment. The addition of these Directors 
with their specialised capability, has assisted 
the Board to understand the unique 
requirements of the education sector.

Increased emphasis on socially 
responsible investing
We try always to be responsive to 
the needs of our members and have 
developed a number of investment 
options over time to cater for a range of 
investing needs. 

After a period of research and assessment, 
on January 1 we were pleased to launch 
our latest option, the Sustainable 
Responsible Investment (SRI) Balanced 
option. 

This option invests in a cross-section 
of diversified assets with an emphasis 
on growth from socially responsible 

In the second year in a row where superannuation figured 
prominently in media coverage and Canberra debates, 
Prime Super was delighted to put that ‘noise’ aside and 
continue to focus on its core business of delivering benefits 
to members. 

$281M
Employer 
Contributions

$55M
Member Voluntary 
Contributions

$18M
Insurance benefits paid 

$293.7M
Benefits paid to members
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*  SuperRatings Fund Crediting Rate Survey - June 2019. Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance. 
**  Prime Super calculations
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Reserving 
policies

Administration Reserve
All member fees are paid into the 
Administration Reserve and are used to 
pay costs. As the Trustee operates the 
Fund on a not-for-profit basis, any surplus 
after payment of current costs can be 
applied to the benefit of members at the 
Trustee’s discretion.

Investment Reserve
Investment returns earned by the Fund 
for all investment options are held in an 
Investment Reserve between the time 
they are received by the Fund, and the 
time they are credited to members. Any 
returns, positive or negative, achieved on 
the Investment Reserve are considered 
investment earnings of the Fund and will 
also be distributed to members.

Due to occasional unexpected investment 
distributions, or estimated tax liabilities 
and rounding of investment returns to 
whole cents, it is not practical to distribute 

the entire Investment Reserve. The balance 
of any carryforward investment reserve is 
likely to be between zero and around 0.5% 
of the Fund’s assets which is available for 
distribution to members in subsequent 
years.

Operational Risk Reserve
The Operational Risk Reserve (ORR) is 
legislatively required to specifically cover 
potential losses arising from operational 
risks that may affect the Fund’s business 
operations. It is set at a target amount of 
0.25% of the total value of the Fund (as at  
30 June each year).

The ORR has been fully funded by Prime 
Super. However, the Trustee has the 
discretion to top up the ORR in the future 
with a deduction from members’ accounts 
if required. 

The balance of the Administration Reserve, 
Investment Reserve and Operational Risk 
Reserve accounts are:

The Trustee operates three reserves: the Administration Reserve, 
the Investment Reserve and the Operational Risk Reserve, which 
are all invested in the MySuper option.

Year  
Ended

Administration 
Reserve 

$’000
% of  
FUM

Investment 
Reserve 

$’000
% of  
FUM

Operational 
Risk Reserve 

$’000
% of  
FUM

2019  $4,309 0.08%  $1,548 0.03%  $13,089 0.25%

2018  $5,929 0.15%  $3,766 0.10%  $9,830 0.25%

2017  $25,296 0.71%  $4,874 0.14%  $8,691 0.25%

Investments 
update

Nonetheless, the outlook on global growth  
has become increasingly muted, with trade 
tensions, a delayed Brexit and prolonged 
low inflation causes for concern. 

The financial year started on a positive 
note, with global equities being supported 
by a continuing US economic recovery 
and expectations of central bank policy 
tightening. However, as 2018 drew to  
a close, global markets experienced a 
pronounced rise in volatility, with China-US 
trade tensions and the then-looming Brexit 
rattling investors. This uncertainty saw 
international equities fall 13.6% over the 
December quarter on an AUD-hedged 
basis, with Australian equities posting a 
near-identical 13.7% decline. 

By the start of 2019, however, a number 
of concerned central banks decided 
renewed stimulus was required. US 
Federal Reserve Chair Jay Powell noted 
that rate hikes would pause. In Europe, 
the European Central Bank announced 
the reintroduction of stimulus for banks to 
commence in September 2019. Australia’s 
RBA cut rates twice in successive months 
in June and of July 2019, breaking a nearly 
three-year streak of no changes to the 
official rate. 

A key driver for the changes to lower  
rates and policy easing related to inflation. 
Despite unemployment reaching low 
levels across a number of economies, the 
inflationary pressure this was expected to 
generate has failed to materialise, with 
central bank inflation targets remaining  
out of reach for most developed 
economies. 

While an easing in monetary policy was 
welcomed by investors, it reflects a more 
muted global economic outlook. The 
IMF was compelled to cut its 2019 global 
growth forecast by 0.2% to 3.3% in its 
April review, with Australia’s GDP growth 
forecast for 2019 cut by 0.7% to 2.1%.

Nonetheless, the 2018-19 year ended on a 
positive note. With China-US trade talks to 
resolve the ongoing spat likely to resume, 
Brexit delayed to October, and central 
banks offering sustained support, global 
equities reversed their December quarter 
correction to return 11.9% on an unhedged 
basis for the 2018-19 year, with Australian 
equities returning 11.4%.

The reduced rates outlook also helped 
buoy fixed interest investments, with yields 
plummeting and bond prices, accordingly, 
rising. The 10-year Australian bond yield 
hit a record low of 1.3% by late June 2019 
after reaching 2.7% in November 2018, 
while its US equivalent fell from 3.2% 
to under 2.0% over the same period. 
Accordingly, Australian and overseas fixed 
interest returned a stellar 9.6% and 7.2%, 
respectively, for the financial year. 

To use a sporting analogy, the 2018-19 financial year was ‘a game 
of two halves’. The first six months were characterised by growing 
fears of an economic downturn, ultimately giving way to a rally in 
both equities and fixed interest over the second half of the year. 
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Australia
While Australia recorded a 28th straight 
year of economic expansion, there were 
signs of weakening. The nation entered a 
‘per capita’ recession during the year; that 
is, GDP contracted after adjusting for the 
positive impact of population growth on 
output. 

After an extended period of surging prices, 
Australia’s housing sector finally weakened 
over the financial year, with prices across 
the five major capital cities falling 8.3% 
over the year.

Strong foreign appetite for Australian 
resources helped the nation record its 
highest ever trade account surplus in June 
2019, with the current account deficit 
reaching its lowest percentage of GDP in 
nearly 40 years. Nonetheless, with inflation 
and wage growth weak, concerns about 
the local economy led the RBA to cut 
interest rates twice in consecutive months 
to a record-low of 1.0%. 

China
Trade tensions with the US were an 
omnipresent theme for the Chinese 
economy. While many expect an amicable 
outcome to negotiations, there has already 
been an impact on the Chinese economy, 
with officials revising the nation’s 2019 
GDP growth forecast down from 6.5% to 
between 6.0% and 6.5%. 

The nation’s services sector, which the 
government has tried to stimulate, remains 
more optimistic according to sentiment 
data than the larger manufacturing sector. 
A number of stimulus measures – such as 
tax cuts – have been introduced by officials 
to help stimulate the local economy. 

United States
The US economy remained in a position of 
relative strength compared to other major 
developed market economies. Real GDP 
growth was a robust 3.1%, unemployment 
a very healthy 3.7%, and core inflation for 
the June quarter just above the Federal 
Reserve’s 2.0% target rate. 

President Trump continued to polarise 
his constituency. The midterm elections 
in November 2018 were considered a 
plebiscite on Trump’s policies, and while 
the Democrats regained a lower house 
majority, the Republicans retained Senate 
control. Calls for President Trump’s 
impeachment ebbed away in early 2019, 
with investigations finding no evidence of 
collusion with Russian authorities in the 
lead up to the 2016 election.

Implications for financial 
markets
The change in central bank policy 
reaffirms the ‘lower-for-longer’ interest 
rate environment that has been the 
case over the past decade.  It has had 
a pronounced impact on financial 
markets since the start of 2019.  After 
entering correction territory during 
the 2018 December quarter, equities 
markets recovered significantly, ending 
the financial year with returns well into 
positive territory.  The S&P/ASX 200 
Index neared its record high set in 
late 2007, while in the US the S&P 500 

Index broke records to breach the 3,000 
barrier.  

Fixed interest markets also benefitted.  
Lower official rates and stimulus 
measures are likely to help contain 
bond yields, thereby increasing bond 
values.  Lower bond yields are also due 
to inflation outlook, with no signs of the 
growing inflationary pressure typically 
expected from ultra-low unemployment 
rates eventuating.  This also supported 
bond prices.  

However, the longer-term impacts of 
the central bank about-face may be less 
sanguine.  Now that fixed interest yields 
and credit spreads have narrowed, 
there is much less scope for capital 
appreciation if yields are already ultra-
low.  It also means the other key return 

driver for bonds, carry, will likely be very 
low going forward.  

Measures of valuation for equities  are 
also atypically high.  For example, the 
Schiller Price to Earnings Ratio, which 
indicates cyclically-adjusted equities 
valuations, is well above its level just 
prior to the Global Financial Crisis.  

While markets are currently optimistic 
about the support central banks will 
provide, there is no certainty they will be 
willing or able to continue providing the 
same level of support in future.  

Europe
The original Brexit deadline of 30 March 
2019 came and went without fanfare, with 
an extension granted to October for UK 
parliament to offer a deal to the EU. The 
drawn-out negotiations ultimately cost UK 
Prime Minister Theresa May her position, 
with her ruling Conservative Party unable 
to reach consensus on the Brexit plan she 
wanted put forward. 

Unemployment continued to fall across 
the region but inflation failed to lift. The 
region’s manufacturing sector was rattled 
by China-US trade tensions, with sentiment 
surveys revealing pessimism at multi-year 
highs across the region, especially within 
economic powerhouse Germany. 

The central bank u-turn
As the 2018-19 year started, market 
talk focussed on how many times 
the US Federal Reserve would hike 
rates in the coming months. The 
global economy was improving, 
with the US economy recording 
strong data. Australia’s RBA was 
expected to increase its official 
rate in the coming months, and the 
ECB had just ended its latest asset 
purchase programme. 

However, by June 2019, the 
global economic climate was an 
altogether different one. In early 
2019, in response to a correction 
in equities markets and growing 
trade war fears, the US Federal 
Reserve changed tack and paused 
its rate hikes. By June, the Federal 
Reserve was widely tipped to cut 
rates at its July meeting. 

The ECB introduced new stimulus 
for financial institutions, while 
in Australia the RBA cited weak 
inflation and a struggling housing 
sector as impetus for two straight 
cuts as the financial year ended.

Investments  
update (continued)



Investments  
update (continued)

TTR income stream performance
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Investment option 1 year 3 years 5 years 7 years 10 years

Balanced 6.30% 9.94% 9.46% 11.39% 9.71%

Managed Growth 6.94% 11.55% 11.19% 13.29% 9.92%

Conservative 5.16% 6.19% 6.96% 7.58% 6.89%

Income Focused** 6.17% n/a n/a n/a n/a

Alternatives 9.35% 11.27% 14.15% 14.73% 10.92%

Australian Shares 5.99% 13.49% 10.65% 13.77% 11.38%

International Shares 7.26% 12.67% 11.09% 14.82% 11.67%

Property 13.03% 18.49% 22.59% 18.22% 13.54%

Fixed Interest 5.69% 3.71% 4.68% 4.90% 5.94%

Cash 1.99% 2.29% 2.46% 2.75% 3.19%

SRI* n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

 
Retirement income stream performance
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Investment option 1 year 3 years 5 years 7 years 10 years

Balanced 7.05% 10.77% 9.96% 11.75% 9.96%

Managed Growth 7.88% 12.56% 11.80% 13.73% 10.22%

Conservative 6.00% 6.78% 7.32% 7.83% 7.07%

Income Focused** 7.04% n/a n/a n/a n/a

Alternatives 10.53% 12.17% 14.71% 15.13% 11.19%

Australian Shares 6.72% 14.98% 11.52% 14.41% 11.81%

International Shares 8.08% 13.39% 11.51% 15.13% 11.88%

Property 14.94% 20.02% 23.54% 18.87% 13.97%

Fixed Interest 6.62% 4.15% 4.95% 5.09% 6.08%

Cash 2.41% 2.55% 2.62% 2.86% 3.27%

SRI* n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Super fund performance
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Investment option 1 year 3 years 5 years 7 years 10 years

MySuper 6.30% 9.21% 8.53% 10.07% 8.53%

Managed Growth 6.94% 10.70% 10.08% 11.74% 8.76%

Conservative 5.16% 5.82% 6.26% 6.70% 6.05%

Income Focused** 6.17% n/a n/a n/a n/a

Alternatives 9.35% 10.47% 12.61% 12.96% 9.62%

Australian Shares 5.99% 12.29% 9.61% 12.16% 10.10%

International Shares 7.26% 12.01% 10.28% 13.42% 10.49%

Property 13.03% 17.10% 20.27% 16.28% 12.13%

Fixed Interest 5.69% 3.56% 4.22% 4.34% 5.24%

Cash 1.99% 2.14% 2.21% 2.43% 2.78%

SRI* n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
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$37,468

$65,945

$79,319

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 20192009 2010

Growth of $35,000 invested over 10 years to June 2019*
 

  MySuper

*  Growth of an initial investment of $35,000 over a period of ten years to 30 June 2019 invested in Prime Super’s MySuper option. The crediting rates applied are net of any applicable 
investment fees and taxation. The balance shown is for illustrative purposes only. It assumes that there were no deposits or withdrawals made during the period. Insurance premiums  
or administration fees and other costs have not been applied in this calculation. Please note - Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.

* Option only available from 1 January 2019. 
** Income focussed option available from 1 September 2017. 
Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.

* Option only available from 1 January 2019. 
** Income focussed option available from 1 September 2017

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance..

* Option only available from 1 January 2019. 
** Income focussed option available from 1 September 2017. 
Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.
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153 Campbell Street, 
Brisbane
In June 2019, Prime Super 
completed the acquisition of  
153 Campbell Street, Bowen 
Hills. The property comprises 
two detached semi-modern 
commercial office buildings in 
a campus style site, with a net 
lettable area of 15,691 square 
metres and more than 250 car 
parks. 

Why we chose to invest:
1.  Key tenants include Siemens 

and various Queensland 
Government agencies, 
particularly focussed on the 
health services sector. This 
provides a good mix of high-
quality counterparties for the 
property.

2.  153 Campbell Street benefits 
from a location directly 
opposite the Royal Brisbane 
and Women’s Hospital, 
Queensland’s largest teaching 
and research hospital, which 
has historically been a key 
factor driving tenant demand. 
Furthermore, the general  
area is undergoing extensive 
urban renewal, including  
the A$2.9 billion Brisbane 
Showgrounds redevelopment, 
and the A$1.1 billion Herston 
Quarter health precinct. 

3.  Various initiatives were 
identified during acquisition 
to improve the sustainability 
and environmental credentials 
of the building, supporting 
Prime Super’s focus on socially 
responsible investing. 

Sarpsborg Avfalls Energi 
(SAE)
In July 2016, Prime Super acquired 
100% of Sarsborg Avfalls Energi 
(SAE) in Sarpsborg, Norway. SAE 

SAE is an “inside-the-fence” waste 
incineration and heat generation 
plant that was commissioned in 
March 2010. The plant is based on 
a modern gasification technology 
with an installed capacity of  
32.4 MW and gross production  
of 255 GWh. It uses a feedstock  
of c.80,000 tons waste per year. 
The facility is exclusively dedicated 
to the supply of baseload process 
steam under a long-term offtake 
contract to a number of bio-
chemical process plants owned 
by Borregaard which is the world’s 
largest producer of lignin based 
biochemical.

Why we chose to invest:
1.  The long-term contracted 

cashflows are a strong feature  
of this asset.

2.  Borregaard is a well-known 
company in Norway listed on 
the Oslo stock exchange with 
a current market cap of circa 
A$1.6bn and over one hundred 
years of trading history.

3.  There are realistic alternative 
uses for the plant that mitigate 
an offtake default scenario, 
such as the delivery of thermal 
energy to alternative customers 
or the retrofit of a power turbine 
to produce electricity.

International Parking Group
In August 2011, Prime Super 
acquired a 20.8% stake in 
International Parking Group 
(IPG), which is the owner of eight 
licences/leases to operate car 
parks at hospital campuses in 
Sydney (Canterbury, Sydney Eye, 
Randwick and St George) and 
Brisbane (Prince Charles, Royal 
Brisbane and Women’s, Royal 
Children’s and Princess Alexandra), 
and one long-term freehold car 
park at the San Clinic (Sydney). 
Prime Super increased its stake  
in IPG to 47.5% in May 2019. 

Why we chose to invest:
1.  The car parks provide long-

term stable cash flows from 
a mix of users at large, high 
profile hospitals in Sydney 
and Brisbane. A portion of the 
cash flows are underwritten by 
Australian State Government 
hospital operators. 

2.  The health services related 
earnings are not correlated with 
the broader Australian economy, 
and the company’s financial 
circumstances, including 
conservative leverage, high 
EBITDA margins and low capital 
expenditure requirements, 
provides a significant buffer  
to absorb operating shocks. 

3.  IPG continues to assess  
possible growth options for  
the portfolio, which has recently 
included investing in the Herston 
Quarter (Brisbane), part of the 
A$1.1 billion development of the 
broader Herston Health Precinct, 
which will provide access to 
leading health, hospital and 
aged care services. 

Vopak Terminal Eemshaven –  
Winner of biggest commitment to environmental protection
On 26 March 2019, Prime Super investee 
company Vopak Terminal Eemshaven 
was recognised at the annual Global 
Tank Storage Awards with the terminal 
being awarded winner of the Biggest 
Commitment to Environmental 
Protection.

The sustainability initiatives at Vopak 
Terminal Eemshaven are strongly 
focussed on reducing the environmental 
impact of its operations and to promote 
initiatives that support developing 
infrastructure solutions for a low-carbon 
energy future. 

In February this year, Vopak terminal 
Eemshaven and Groningen Seaports 
announced their intention to jointly 
invest in a 27 MW solar park that will be 
built on vacant land on the terminal’s 
premises. In addition to using its own 
electricity from the solar-field, Vopak 
Terminal Eemshaven has taken further 
measures to transition its energy 
consumption to more sustainable 
models. These initiatives include 
converting on-site terminal lighting to 
LED-alternatives and exploring the use of 
renewable bio-fuels for the provision of 
back-up energy.

Investments at a glance



Investment 
options
All members have access to a range 
of investment options. You can choose 
any combination of these options and 
can direct future contributions into the 
same options or a different combination 
of options. To increase efficiency and 
decrease transaction costs across all 
investment options, the cash flow for all 
options is managed through the MySuper 
investment option. Members can select 
from the following investment options.

*  The net earnings of the investment option for the period 3 years, 5 years and  
10 years ending 30 June 2019.

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.

*  The net earnings of the investment option for the period 3 years, 5 years and 10 years ending 30 June 2019.

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.

Pre-mixed options

MySuper
Suitability
Members who seek 
moderate to high returns 
over the medium to long-
term and are prepared to 
accept some fluctuation in 
returns over the short-term.

Investment style
Invests in a diversified range 
of investments, a mixture 
of growth and defensive 
assets.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) 
(after tax and investment 
expenses) by at least 3% 
p.a. over the long-term.

Risk level
Medium-high. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
4 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
7 years or longer.

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target 
allocation %

Growth assets 61.4
Equity
 Australian Shares 5.0-40.0 21.0
 International Shares
  Developed Markets 5.0-35.0 23.0
  Emerging Markets 0.0-10.0 6.0
 Private Equity 0.0-12.5 1.0
Infrastructure 0.0-25.0 6.5
Property 0.0-25.0 3.9
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-22.5 0.0

Defensive assets 38.6
Infrastructure 0.0-25.0 6.5
Property 0.0-25.0 2.6
Fixed Income
 Australian 0.0-15.0 3.0
 Overseas 0.0-25.0 7.0
Cash 0.5-30.0 10.0
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-22.5 9.5
 Alternatives 0.0-10.0 0.0
  Absolute Return Strategies 0.0-10.0 0.0

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

8.53
9.96

8.53
9.969.21

10.77

6.30 7.05

10 years5 years3 years1 year 10 years5 years3 years1 year

My super

Managed Growth
Suitability
Members who seek 
moderate to high returns 
over the medium to long-
term.

Investment style
Invests primarily in growth 
assets.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform CPI (after tax 
and investment expenses) 
by at least 4% per annum 
over the long-term.

Risk level
High likelihood of negative 
returns – less than 5 in 20 
years.

Time horizon 
10 or more years.

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target 
allocation %

Growth assets 77.85
Equity
 Australian Shares 10.0-50.0 28.5
 International Shares
  Developed Markets 10.0-50.0 30.5
  Emerging Markets 0.0-10.0 8.5
 Private Equity 0.0-12.5 1.0
Infrastructure 0.0-25.0 5.75
Property 0.0-20.0 3.6
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-15.0 0.0

Defensive assets 22.15
Infrastructure 0.0-25.0 5.75
Property 0.0-20.0 2.4
Fixed Income
 Australian 0.0-10.0 0.0
 Overseas 0.0-10.0 5.5
Cash 0.0-10.0 2.0
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-15.0 6.5
 Alternatives 0.0-5.0 0.0

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

8.76
10.2210.08

11.8010.70
12.56

6.94 7.88

10 years 10 years5 years 5 years3 years 3 years1 year 1 year

Managed Growth

Alternative

Alternatives
Suitability
Members who seek strong 
returns over the long-term 
and are prepared to accept 
a higher level of risk to 
achieve this.

Investment style
Invests primarily in unlisted 
assets.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform CPI (after tax 
and investment expenses) 
by at least 3% p.a. over the 
long-term.

Risk level
Medium-High. Likelihood of 
a negative return – less than 
4 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
10 or more years. 

Investment mix Alternatives

Asset class Range %
 Target 
allocation %

Growth assets 40.05
Private Equity 0.0-25.0 3.5
Infrastructure 0.0-75.0 22.75
Property 0.0-50.0 13.8
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-50.0 0.0

Defensive assets 59.95
Infrastructure 0.0-75.0 22.75
Property 0.0-50.0 9.2
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-50.0 28.0
 Alternatives 0.0-20.0 0.0

Total 100

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Past investment returns (%)*

9.62
11.19

12.61
14.71

10.47
12.17

9.35 10.53

10 years 10 years5 years 5 years3 years 3 years1 year 1 year

Alternative

Conservative
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Income Focused

How the option works

Income earnings (net of investment fees and taxes) for the Income 
Focused option are distributed on a monthly basis and are 
transferred to the Cash option. Members may choose to keep the 
earnings in the Cash option or re-invest the money into another 
investment option.

Setting up your account

We suggest that when you invest in the Income Focused option, 
you also invest some money in the Cash option to help fund the 
fees and charges related to the Income Focused option, thereby 
reducing the need to draw down on your capital investment. If 
you choose not to invest some money in the Cash option, we will 
automatically transfer your income earnings into the Cash option 
in the month after you invest in the Income Focused option. 
You may wish to review your investment strategy to ensure that 
it meets your needs. If you do not want your money in the Cash 
option, you are able to transfer the money to the option of your 
choice.

Pre-mixed options (continued)

*  The net earnings of the investment option for the period 3 years, 5 years and  
10 years ending 30 June 2019.

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.

* Option first offered to members on 1 September 2017.

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.

Conservative
Suitability
Members who value security 
over returns.

Investment style
Invests primarily in 
defensive assets with the 
aim of protecting the 
value of a member’s net 
investment.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform CPI (after tax 
and investment expenses) 
by at least 1.5% p.a. 
over the long-term.

Risk level
Low-Medium. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
2 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
5 or more years.

 
Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target 
allocation %

Growth assets 25.7
Equity
  Australian Shares 0.0-20.0 8.5
  International Shares
  Developed Markets 0.0-20.0 9.0
 Private Equity 0.0-7.5 1.0
Infrastructure 0.0-15.0 4.5
Property 0.0-12.5 2.7
Other
  Credit Opportunities 0.0-10.0 0.0

Defensive assets 74.3
Infrastructure 0.0-15.0 4.5
Property 0.0-12.5 1.8
Fixed Income
  Australian 5.0-25.0 12.0
  Overseas 5.0-40.0 12.5
Cash 20.0-50.0 38.0
Other
  Credit Opportunities 0.0-10.0 5.5
 Alternatives 0.0-5.0 0.0

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

6.05
7.07

6.26
7.32

5.82
6.78

5.16
6.00

10 years 10 years5 years 5 years3 years 3 years1 year 1 year

Conservative

Income Focused

Income Focused
Suitability
Members who seek income 
supplement over capital 
growth.

Investment style
Invests in diversified 
range of investments with 
predominant focus on yield.

Investment return 
objective
To provide an income of 
2.5% per annum (before 
taxes and fees) above the 
RBA cash rate over a rolling 
three year period.

Risk level
Medium. Likelihood of 
negative return – less than 3 
in 20 years.

Time horizon 
5 or more years.

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target 
allocation %

Growth assets 39.5
Shares
 Australian Shares 10.0-30.0 15.0
 International Shares
  Developed Markets 10.0-30.0 10.0
Infrastructure 0.0-15.0 10.0
Property 0.0-15.0 4.5
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-15.0 0.0

Defensive assets 60.5
Infrastructure 0.0-15.0 10.0
Property 0.0-15.0 3.0
Fixed Income
 Australian 0.0-30.0 0.0
 Overseas 10.0-40.0 22.5
Cash 5.0-40.0 15.0
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-15.0 10.0

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

n/a n/an/a n/an/a n/a

6.17
7.04

10 years 10 years5 years 5 years3 years 3 years1 year 1 year

Income Focused

Aus Shares
Accumulation – Conservative Accumulation – Income FocusedIncome Streams Income Streams 

Sustainable Responsible 
Investment (SRI) balanced option
Suitability

Members who seek 
moderate to high returns 
over the long term and have 
a strong ethical conviction.

Investment style

Invests in a cross-section 
of diversified assets with 
an emphasis on growth 
from socially responsible 
investments over the long 
term and reduced risk.

Investment return 
objective

To outperform the CPI 
(after tax and investment 
expenses) by at least 2.5% 
per annum over the long 
term.

Risk level

High. Likelihood of less than 
6 negative returns every 20 
years.

Time horizon 

7 or more years.

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
Target 

allocation %
Growth assets 70.0

Equity
 Australian Shares 15.0-40.0 28.0
 International Shares
  Developed Markets 15.0-50.0 27.0
  Emerging Markets 0.0-10.0 2.0
 Private Equity 
Infrastructure 0.0-10.0 3.0
Property 0.0-20.0 9.0
Other
 Alternatives 0.0-10.0 1.0

Defensive assets 30.0
Infrastructure 
Property
Fixed Income
 Australian 0.0-20.0 13.0
 Overseas 0.0-25.0 12.0
Cash 0.0-25.0 5.0
Other
 Alternatives

Total 100

 
Past investment returns (%)
SRI option returned 10.15% for the six months to  
30 June 2019. This option was first offered on 1 January 2019.

*  This option was first offered 1 January 2019.

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.
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Sector options

The Fund uses a number of investment managers to manage the assets of each investment option. This is intended to reduce investment 
volatility. The Trustee may remove or appoint new investment managers at any time. Visit primesuper.com.au for details.

The Trustee may directly buy or sell derivative instruments and permits investment managers to use them. However, derivative investments 
may not be used by the Trustee or investment managers for speculative purposes. The use of derivatives is monitored and a derivatives risk 
statement has been prepared by the Trustee that limits the use of derivatives to reducing costs, hedging, arbitrage and other defensive 
purposes.

We periodically review our investment options. The investment mix for any investment option can change from time-to-time because of 
these reviews and may deviate from the asset allocations shown if we consider it prudent to do so. Current investment allocations are 
available at primesuper.com.au.

*  The net earnings of the investment option for the period 3 years, 5 years and 10 years ending 30 June 2019.

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.

*  The net earnings of the investment option for the period 3 years, 5 years and 10 years ending 30 June 2019.

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.

International Shares
Suitability
Members who seek strong 
returns over the long-term 
and are prepared to accept 
a higher level of risk to 
achieve this.

Investment style
Invests in international 
listed companies and 
returns which are subject 
to foreign exchange risk, 
and are expected to vary 
significantly year to year.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform before tax 
and investment expenses 
the weighted average of 
MSCI World (ex-Australia) 
Index (in AUD) and MSCI 
Emerging Markets Index (in 
AUD) before hedging.

Risk level
Very high. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
7 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
10 or more years.

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target 
allocation %

Growth assets 100
Equity
International Shares
 Developed Markets 0.0-100.0 87.5
 Emerging Markets 0.0-100.0 12.5

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

10.49
11.88

10.28
11.5112.01

13.39

7.26 8.08

10 years 10 years5 years 5 years3 years 3 years1 year 1 year

Int Shares

PropertyAccumulation – International Shares Income Streams 

Property
Suitability
Members who seek 
moderate to high returns 
through investing in 
property.

Investment style
Invests in property via 
listed and unlisted property 
vehicles.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform (after tax and 
investment expenses) CPI 
by at least 3% pa over the 
long term.

Risk level
Medium-High. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
4 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
10 or more years. 

 
 
Investment mix

Asset class Range %
Target 

allocation %
Growth assets 60

Property 0.0-100.0 60
Defensive assets 40

Property 0.0-100.0 40
Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

12.13 13.97

20.27
23.54

17.10
20.02

13.03 14.94

10 years 10 years5 years 5 years3 years 3 years1 year 1 year

Property

Fixed

   
   

Accumulation – Property Income Streams 

Fixed Interest
Suitability
Members who seek 
moderate returns for a 
moderate level of risk.

Investment style
Invests in domestic and 
international fixed interest 
securities. Losses may occur 
over some periods.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform (before tax 
and investment expenses) 

the weighted average 
of major Australian and 
international bond indices 
and global floating 
rate credit (targeting 
outperformance above the 
Bloomberg AusBond Bank 
Bill Index) hedged to $A.

Risk level
Low-Medium. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
3 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
5 or more years.

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
Target 

allocation %
Defensive assets 100

Fixed Income
 Australian 0.0-100.0 40
 Overseas 0.0-100.0 60

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

5.24
6.08

4.22
4.95

3.56 4.15
5.69

6.62

10 years 10 years5 years 5 years3 years 3 years1 year 1 year

Fixed

Accumulation – Fixed Interest Income Streams 

Australian Shares
Suitability
Members who seek strong 
returns over the long-term 
and are prepared to accept 
a higher level of risk to 
achieve this.

Investment style
Invests in Australian listed 
companies and returns 
are expected to vary 
significantly year to year.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform (before 
tax and investment 
expenses) the S&P/ASX300 
Accumulation Index.

Risk level
Very high Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
7 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
10 or more years.

 
 
Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target 
allocation %

Growth assets 100
Equity
  Australian Shares 100.0 100

Total 100

 
Past investment returns (%)*

10.1
11.81

9.61
11.5212.29

14.98

5.99 6.72

10 years 10 years5 years 5 years3 years 3 years1 year 1 year

Aus Shares

Accumulation – Australian Shares Income Streams 
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Investments 
of the Fund

The investments of the fund at 30 June 2019 are as follows. Investments that make up more than 5% or more of the value of the fund are 
indicated with an asterisk (*).

30 June 2019 30 June 2018 

Asset Class/Fund Manager $'000
% of Total 

Fund $'000
% of Total 

Fund
Equity – Australian Shares 
Ausbil Australian Equities*  308,324 5.92%  176,614 4.51%

Bennelong Australian Equities  170,387 3.27%  148,670 3.80%

Firetrail Australian Equities  148,583 2.85%  -    -   

Macquarie Pure Indexed Australian Equities  11 0.00%  181,680 4.64%

Nikko AM Australian Share Income Fund  3,402 0.07%  3,235 0.08%

Tribeca Small Cap Australian Equities  116,310 2.23%  82,758 2.11%

Vinva Australian Equities*  427,991 8.22%  264,283 6.75%

1,175,009 22.58% 857,240 21.89%
Equity – International Shares
AQR Global Enhanced Equity Fund*  438,259 8.42%  294,974 7.53%

MFS Global Equity Trust  255,618 4.91%  121,194 3.09%

PanAgora Dynamic Global Equity (Ex Tobacco) Fund  -    -    294,723 7.52%

Realindex Global Share Fund (Screened)  231,350 4.44%  125,078 3.19%

Transition AC  6 0.00%  1 0.00%

Wellington Global Quality Growth Fund  197,670 3.80%  -    -   

 1,122,903 21.57%  835,970 21.34%
Equity – Emerging Markets
iShares Indexed Emerging Markets IMI Equity Fund*  288,490 5.54%  220,458 5.63%

 288,492 5.54%  220,458 5.63%

Cash
CBA Capital Growth Account - 90 days*  261,662 5.03%  181,230 4.63%

CBA Capital Growth Account - 185 days  16,209 0.31%  15,833 0.40%

CFS Wholesale Institutional Cash Fund*  350,283 6.73%  342,152 8.74%

Invoice Account  184 0.00%  51 0.00%

 628,338 12.07%  539,266 13.77%
Fixed Income – Australian Fixed Interest
BlackRock Australian Government Bonds  157,188 3.02%  -    -   

Vanguard Australian Fixed Interest Index Fund  -    -    117,716 3.01%

 157,188 3.02%  117,716 3.01%

Fixed Income – International Fixed Interest
AllianceBernstein Global Floating Rate Credit*  296,636 5.70%  225,768 5.76%

iShares Global Bond Index Fund  46,803 0.90%  36,797 0.94%

 343,440 6.60%  262,565 6.70%
Infrastructure
Changhwa Wind Farm  -    -    249 0.01%

CFS Wholesale Infrastructure Income Fund  23,402 0.45%  -    -   

Emerging Markets Infrastructure Fund  1,990 0.04% 4,574 0.12%
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Cash
Suitability
Members who place 
security of their assets over 
returns.

Investment style
Invests solely in short-term, 
low-risk money market 
securities and is expected 
to produce returns that are 
moderately higher than CPI.

Investment return 
objective
To perform in line (before 
tax and investment 
expenses) with Bloomberg 
AusBond Bank Bill Index.

Risk level
Very low. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
0.4 in every 20 years.

Time horizon 
Any time period.

 
 

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target 
allocation %

Defensive assets 100
Cash 100 100

Total 100

 
Past investment returns (%)*

2.78
3.27

2.21
2.62

2.14
2.55

1.99
2.41

10 years 10 years5 years 5 years3 years 3 years1 year 1 year

Cash

Accumulation – Cash Income Streams 

Sector options (continued)

*  The net earnings of the investment option for the period 3 years, 5 years and 
10 years ending 30 June 2019.

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.



Investments  
of the Fund (continued)
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30 June 2019 30 June 2018 

Asset Class/Fund Manager $'000
% of Total 

Fund $'000
% of Total 

Fund
Infrastructure (continued)

GasValpo  139 0.00% 23,879 0.61%

ICG Diversified Infrastructure Trust  40,278 0.77%  -   -  

Igasamex  34,534 0.66% 28,176 0.72%

Igasamex Two  63,381 1.22% 51,713 1.32%

Igasamex Three  8,903 0.17%  7,264 0.19%

International Parking Group  16,785 0.32% 16,848 0.43%

International Parking Group 2  21,484 0.41%  -   -  

Investec Global Aircraft Fund  12 0.00% 1,452 0.04%

Megellan Core Infrastructure Fund  18,241 0.35%  -   -  

Peninsula Link  30,947 0.59% 30,354 0.77%

Peninsula Link Two  18,462 0.35% 18,108 0.46%

Rowville Transmission Facility  11,919 0.23% 11,613 0.30%

SAE Waste to Energy  52,732 1.01%  52,369 1.34%

Southern Water  24,495 0.47% 28,108 0.72%

Southern Water 2  13,202 0.25%  15,149 0.39%

Storrun Vindkraft Onshore Wind  20,878 0.40% 21,303 0.54%

Vopak Terminal Eemshaven  45,602 0.88%  42,897 1.10%

Worsley Multi Fuel Cogen Plant  54,405 1.05%  50,744 1.30%

 501,792 9.64%  404,799 10.34%
Property
111 Alinga Street - Infrastructure House  47,041 0.90%  45,546 1.16%

50 Miller Street Trust  81,260 1.56% 66,227 1.69%

AVELS II Trust  -   -  455 0.01%

ALP Trust No 2  -   -  130 0.00%

AVELS III Trust  -   -  550 0.01%

Blackstone Real Estate Partners VI  1,471 0.03% 1,795 0.05%

Citilink Bowen Hills Brisbane  80,951 1.56%  8,678 0.22%

Gresham Property Fund No.3 Development Trust  59 0.00% 105 0.00%

Gresham Property Fund No.3 Investment Trust  4 0.00% 1 0.00%

Investa Commercial Property Group  49,663 0.95%  -   -  

Lendlease Communities Fund 1  298 0.01% 273 0.01%

Lendlease Prime Property Fund Retail  32,256 0.62%  -   -  

Macquarie Real Estate Equity Fund No 7  492 0.01% 492 0.01%

Royale Investment Trust  74,319 1.43% 64,686 1.65%

 367,814 7.07%  188,938 4.82%
Other – Credit Opportunities
Alpha Trains Junior Debt  52,146 1.00% 49,785 1.27%

Arqiva Debt  19,864 0.38% 28,451 0.73%

Aunor Senior Secured Loan  43,538 0.84%  47,313 1.21%

Calvin Capital Loan  -   -   28,783 0.73%

30 June 2019 30 June 2018 

Asset Class/Fund Manager $'000
% of Total 

Fund $'000
% of Total 

Fund
Other – Credit Opportunities (continued)

Continuity Capital Private Credit Fund 1  6,448 0.12%  -   -  

Continuity Capital Private Credit Fund 2  12,176 0.23%  -   -  

Green Investment Bank Loan  23,895 0.46%  30,353 0.77%

IFM Super Loans Trust  123 0.00% 143 0.00%

Infrastructure Credit  43,393 0.83% 50,603 1.29%

Metrics Credit Divserified Australian Senior Loan Fund  33,054 0.64%  -   -  

Sydney Airport Debt  21,118 0.41% 19,151 0.49%

TDF Term Loan  49,289 0.95%  47,996 1.23%

Westbourne Capital Infrastructure Debt Fund 2  37,258 0.72%  -   -  

Yorkshire Water Loan  27,311 0.52%  26,913 0.69%

 369,612 7.10%  329,491 8.41%
Other – Private Equity
AIF Capital Asia III LP  2,405 0.05%  3,718 0.09%

AIF Capital Asia IV LP  11,504 0.22%  10,255 0.26%

CM Capital Venture Trust 4A  1,073 0.02%  986 0.03%

CM Capital Venture Trust 4B  1,073 0.02%  986 0.03%

HarbourVest Dover St VII Cayman Fund LP  666 0.01%  1,284 0.03%

HarbourVest Partners VII Cayman Buyout Fund LP  1,695 0.03%  2,632 0.07%

HarbourVest Partners VII Cayman Ventures Fund LP  1,616 0.03%  1,957 0.05%

PA Private Capital Fund 2  213 0.00%  211 0.01%

Partners GP Euro Buyout 2008 (B) LP  8,820 0.17%  9,918 0.25%

Partners GP Secondary 2008 LP  3,923 0.08% 5,122 0.13%

 32,989 0.63%  37,071 0.95%
Other – Absolute Return Strategies
PineBridge Global Dynamic Asset Allocation Fund  84,246 1.62%  63,081 1.61%

Schroders Real Return CPI +5% Fund  127,639 2.45%  92,956 2.37%

AMP Captial Ethical Leaders Balanced Fund  16,895 0.32%  -   - 

 228,780 4.40%  156,037 3.98%
Other – Derivatives
Credit Opportunities Swaps (2,600) -0.05% (328) -0.01%

Infrastructure Credit Swaps (1,400) -0.03% (1,779) -0.05%

Alternatives FX Overlay Portfolio (3,764) -0.07% (14,285) -0.36%

Developed Overseas Equity FX Overlay Portfolio (3,086) -0.06% (11,728) -0.30%

AllianceBernstein Global Floating Rate Credit (762) -0.01% (4,754) -0.12%

Macquarie Australian Equities  -   -  37 0.00%

Vinva Australian Equities  32 0.00% 25 0.00%

Firetrail Australian Equities  7 0.00%  -   -  

 (11,574) -0.22%  (32,812) -0.84%

Total investments  5,204,782 100.00%  3,916,739 100.00%



Governance 
report

Overview
Effective risk management is fundamental 
to the business activities of the Fund. The 
Trustee remains committed to increasing 
members’ benefits by developing and 
growing the Fund. The Trustee is mindful 
of achieving this objective within the 
Board’s determined risk appetite and  
in line with the interest of its members.

The Trustee seeks to achieve an 
appropriate balance between risk and 
reward. It continues to build and enhance 
the risk management capabilities that 
assist in delivering its strategic objectives 
in a controlled environment.

Responsibility and accountability for risk 
management resides within all levels of  
the Trustee, from the Board down through 
the organisation to each employee. 

The Trustee uses the three lines of defence model for managing risk:

First line  
of defence

Business unit Primarily responsible for owning and managing risks 
that exist within their business units. The process 
of identifying, assessing, evaluating and measuring 
risk is ongoing and is integrated into the day-to-day 
activities of the business. 

Second line 
of defence

Risk management 
function which is 
independent of  
the first line

Primarily responsible for setting the Trustee’s risk 
management framework and policy, providing 
oversight and independent reporting to the executive 
team and the Board through the Audit, Compliance 
and Risk Committee. The Risk management function 
implements the Trustee’s risk management framework 
and policy in the business units and provides an 
independent overview of the effectiveness of risk 
management by the first line of defence.

Third line  
of defence

Internal audit 
function

Primarily responsible for providing an independent 
assessment of the adequacy, appropriateness and 
effectiveness of the Trustee’s risk management 
framework and risk governance structures, and 
reports to the Board through the Audit, Compliance 
and Risk Committee.

Focus areas for 2020
Following on from the Hayne Royal 
Commission and APRA’s report on the 
CBA, a self-assessment was undertaken by 
the Trustee. Areas of focus will include:

• further enhancing the Fund’s risk 
management framework;

• enhancing risk reporting to the Board 
and/or Board Committees to support 
timely, data-driven decisions and 
maintain focus on emerging risks;

• uplifting the second line assurance 
program to continue to strengthen the 
control environment; 

• continue to evolve the three lines of 
defence model, with particular focus 
on the responsibilities of the first and 
second lines of defence; and

• enhance the processes for monitoring 
and reporting on risk culture. 

Compliance and its risk
Definition

Compliance risk is the risk of legal and 
regulatory sanctions, financial loss or loss 
to reputation that the Trustee may suffer 
as a result of its failure to comply with 
laws, regulations, code of conduct and 
standards of good practice applicable to 
its activities.

Approach to compliance risk management

The Trustee’s approach to compliance 
risk is premised on being proactive 
and internationally accepted standards 
of compliance risk management. The 
Compliance function supports the 
business in understanding and complying 
with current and emerging regulatory 
developments, including money laundering 
and terrorist financing risk, identifying and 
managing its compliance obligations and 
mitigating reputational risk.

Benefits of compliance risk management

Solid compliance management helps to 
protect both members and the Trustee 
and contains many visible benefits for the 
Fund, including:

• Robust business processes and 
practices;

• Improved member satisfaction;

• Reduced complaints; and

• Reduced cost of rework and penalties.

Prime Super Annual Report 2019    2726    Prime Super Annual Report 2019



Distribution 
report

Fun Facts
• Membership grew by 11% to exceed 

130,000.

• 656,274 contributions processed to 
member accounts during the year.

• 7,518 rollins from members 
consolidating their super.

• 804 pensions started.

• 19% increase in average member 
balance in FY19.

Distribution is
• The part of Prime Super concerned with 

the capacity of the Fund to manage 
one-on-one interactions with members, 
employers and partners.

• One-on-one interactions are part of the 
way we deliver our mission for members 
– the best retirement outcome they can 
get from their lifetime of work.

• A large team of people and up-to-date 
technology delivering personal and 
timely services and advice as effectively 
and efficiently as we can.

Why we do it
• Superannuation is important. However, 

it’s only a part of the hectic life people 
lead. Around 130,000 members entrust 
their super savings to us, often taking 
little time to make conscious decisions 
about their retirement requirements.

• We give a face and a voice to Prime 
Super so that members know who we 
are when the time comes to focus on 
super.

• For employers, we assist with the 
administrative side of super to make 
compliance as simple as possible.

How we do it
• Face-to-face is some of our favourite 

work. Our team includes people who 
live and work in regional Australia 
providing service and advice to 
members and employers.

• The telephone gets a big workout 
because a lot of the time our members 
and employers find it more efficient to 
fit a conversation over the phone into 
their day.

• Increasingly we’ve found people like 
to use online resources to manage 
their super, so we’ve invested a lot in 
technology to be available 24/7 because 
it’s efficient and convenient for our 
audience.

What you can expect from us
• Personal attention.

• Appropriate advice.

• Local knowledge in lots of locations.
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1  Eddie Isaac 
North & Central Queensland, Northern 
Territory 
0488 999 711 
eisaac@primesuper.com.au 

2  Karen Hyland 
South East Queensland 
0409 030 722 
khyland@primesuper.com.au

3  Annette Mackay 
Northern New South Wales 
0488 588 161 
amackay@primesuper.com.au

4  Brian Coombe 
Victoria – Education Division 
0417 114 055 
bcoombe@primesuper.com.au

5  Mark Redman 
New South Wales 
0488 448 552 
mredman@primesuper.com.au

6  Scott Boyle 
Southern New South Wales, 
Australian Capital Territory 
02 6931 5120 or 0488 989 444 
sboyle@primesuper.com.au

7  Billie Atanasova 
Melbourne 
0403 714 606 
batanasova@primesuper.com.au

8  George Frangeskakis 
Eastern Victoria 
0488 441 880 
gfrangeskakis@primesuper.com.au

9  Peter Hughes 
Western Victoria 
0429 532 041 
phughes@primesuper.com.au

10  Chris Pole 
South Australia 
0488 588 233 
cpole@primesuper.com.au

11  Alisha Wilde 
Western Australia 
0437 049 314 
awilde@primesuper.com.au

12  Radek Kotlarczyk 
Western Australia 
0429 410 426 
rkotlarczyk@primesuper.com.au

13  Gil Sebbag 
Sydney 
0468 308 820 
gsebbag@primesuper.com.au

14  Jess Saxena 
Melbourne 
0499 700 226 
jsaxena@primesuper.com.au

15  Louie Gorgijeski 
Brisbane 
0455 951 126 
lgorgijeski@primesuper.com.au

16  Mark Ashburn 
Melbourne 
0438 537 035 
mashburn@primesuper.com.au

17  Rod Stewart 
Melbourne 
0428 558 158 
rstewart@primesuper.com.au

18  Carol Keller 
Victoria – Education Division 
0429 010 231 
ckeller@primesuper.com.au

Where you 
can find us
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3,500
Face to face meetings
More than 3,500 face-to-face 
meetings with members and 
employers, including 112 financial 
plans delivered by qualified 
financial planners

79,926
Telephone calls 
Answering member and employer 
requests

250
Events attended
The team attended more than  
250 community and partner events

Our local contacts are based 
around the country so you 
can get help when you need 
it, where you need it.
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Operations 
report

Each day members and employers are 
assisted by technology and a team of 
people who are experts in superannuation. 

Some highlights from the year include:

• Answered 79,926 calls from members 
and employers.

• 1,388 outbound calls made to 
proactively talk to members about their 
superannuation or pension.

• Allocated 232,495 contributions from 
employers for 130,374 member accounts.

With so many people now preferring to 
use online tools to manage their finances, 
Prime Super provides members with a 
number of ways to engage with the fund 
digitally, these include: 

• Member online which allows members 
to view their superannuation or pension 
account online (42,477 registered 
members). 

• Digital member card which enables 
members to keep their super fund 
details to provide to new employers 
when they change jobs. (4,772 members 
have downloaded).

• Mobile app for members to check their 
balances and transactions with Prime 
Super (3,465 downloaded).

• Digital correspondence – where 
members can nominate to have 
their correspondence uploaded to 
MemberOnline and be notified by  
email when it is available.

Further Service improvements planned  
in the next financial year:

• Claim Assist is an interactive portal that 
will assist members through their claim 
journey. 

• Online insurance portal will allow 
members to submit and track insurance 
applications. 

• Benefit payments online will enable 
members to initiate benefit payments 
online. 

• Virtual Hold Technology (VHT)  
will allow members to hold their  
place in the queue in the event of 
longer than normal wait times. The 
phone system then calls you back as  
if they waited on the line. 

• Click to chat with trained consultants for 
those members who do not wish to call.

79,926
calls answered and 1,388 outbound 
calls to member 

232,495
allocated contributions from 
employers for 130,374 member 
accounts

At the core of member and employer experience are  
the services we offer and the people who are at the  
center of those services. 

These managers live and work in our country regions – so they 
make planning for your retirement surprisingly straightforward.

My regional background
My family have operated a sheep/
wheat property at Junee Reefs 
NSW for generations. Now my 
kids treasure those holidays with 
cousins as the cycle continues. 
My financial services career has 
been concentrated in regional 
enterprises and communities.

Why I love my job
I don’t want to sound evangelical 
but helping people to get a good 
handle on their super is a great 
cause and makes me proud. It 
seems a lot easier dealing with 
regional people. And they pay me  
to do it – what’s not to love!

My retirement plan
My two boys are in primary school 
and I can’t imagine that retirement  
could be any more fun than life is 
right now. But I am putting enough  
into super to give me the option  
should I change my view.

My regional background
I was born in Bathurst but grew 
up on the outskirts of Brisbane. I 
was mad about horses from the 
time I could walk. My first job 
was working on a thoroughbred 
stud where I did track work every 
morning before school.

Why I love my job
From doing a presentation in 
a feedlot or a shearing shed to 
attending branch meetings and 
conference dinners, I love that no 
two days are ever the same. It all 
happens in different towns across 
Northern NSW and usually involves 
a couple of changes of clothes.

My retirement plan
Most of my days are spent on the 
road so my retirement plans will all 
be close to home. I’d like to grow 
fresh fruit and vegies, experiment 
with hydroponics and aquaponics, 
and restore an antique rocking 
horse back to its former glory.

Peter Hughes
Western Victoria

Annette Mackay
Tamworth, NSW

“ No two days are ever  

the same. It all happens 

in different towns.”

“ Helping people to get 

a good handle on their 

super is a great cause 

and makes me proud.”

BROUGHT TO YOU BY PRIME SUPER

We make your super 
our PRIME focus

“Throughout my working 
life I’ve always enjoyed 

helping people.”

“No two days are ever 
the same. It all happens 

in different towns.”

“It’s good to guide 
people towards making 

the best decision.”

SCOTT BOYLE

Wagga Wagga,  NSW

ANNETTE MACKAY

Tamworth,  NSW

GEOFF HIGGINS

Dubbo,  NSW

MY RURAL BACKGROUND I grew up on a 
wheat and sheep farm in Western Australia 
then went on to study agriculture and 
business at university. My first job was testing 
all types of farming equipment, from utes 
and motorbikes to chainsaws and spraying 
equipment.
WHY I LOVE MY JOB Throughout my whole 
working life I’ve always enjoyed helping 
people. I like being able to give farmers 
information and advice, and to hopefully help 
them become financially independent when 
they retire. I also love that I can live in a large 
rural community here in Wagga Wagga. 
MY RETIREMENT PLAN I look forward to 
being debt-free and owning my own home. I’d 
like to help my children through university 
and to support them to do some of the things 
they want to do with their lives.

02 6931 5120 or 0488 989 444  

sboyle@primesuper.com.au

MY RURAL BACKGROUND I was born in 
Bathurst but grew up on the outskirts of 
Brisbane. I was mad about horses from the 
time I could walk. My first job was working on 
a thoroughbred stud where I did track work 
every morning before school.
WHY I LOVE MY JOB From doing a 
presentation in a feedlot or a shearing shed 
to attending branch meetings and conference 
dinners, I love that no two days are ever the 
same. It all happens in different towns across 
Northern NSW and usually involves a couple 
of changes of clothes. 
MY RETIREMENT PLAN Most of my days 
are spent on the road so my retirement plans 
will all be close to home. I’d like to grow fresh 
fruit and vegies, experiment with hydroponics 
and aquaponics, and restore an antique 
rocking horse back to its former glory.

0488 588 161  

amackay@primesuper.com.au

MY RURAL BACKGROUND My family had 
a farm in Bathurst, so I was ploughing and 
driving tractors from the age of 12. I also 
learned much from milking cows, shearing and 
drenching sheep, and breeding pigs. I worked 
in banking across NSW for more than 30 years.
WHY I LOVE MY JOB I get to talk with 
agricultural and business people, both 
self-employed and at executive level. It’s 
good to help them understand some of 
the complex superannuation rules and 
to guide them towards making the best 
decision for their situation. 
MY RETIREMENT PLAN My wife Debbie 
and I have done a couple of long caravan 
trips in the past and loved it. My plan is 
to join the grey nomads at some stage 
and travel around parts of Australia I’ve 
never seen before.

02 6882 6774 or 0488 072 222  

ghiggins@primesuper.com.au

These managers live and work in our country regions – so they  
make planning for your retirement surprisingly straightforward.

FOR MORE INFORMATION VISIT:  primesuper.com.au    PHONE:  1800 675 839

This document contains general information only and does not take account of your personal circumstances. You should obtain personal advice where appropriate.  
This document is current as at the date of publication and subject to change. Prime Super (ABN 60 562 335 823; RN1000276) is issued by Prime Super Pty Ltd (ABN 81 067 241 016, 

AFSL 219723; RSE L0000277). A Product Disclosure Statement is available from the issuer by calling 1800 675 839.

My regional background
I grew up on a wheat and sheep 
farm in Western Australia then 
went on to study agriculture  
and business at university.  
My first job was testing all types  
of farming equipment, from utes 
and motorbikes to chainsaws  
and spraying equipment.

Why I love my job
Throughout my whole working 
life I’ve always enjoyed helping 
people. I like being able to give 
farmers information and advice, 
and to hopefully help them 
become financially independent 
when they retire. I also love that  
I can live in a large rural community 
here in Wagga Wagga.

My retirement plan
I look forward to being debt-free 
and owning my own home. I’d 
like to help my children through 
university and to support them to 
do some of the things they want  
to do with their lives.

Scott Boyle
Wagga Wagga, NSW

“ Throughout my working 

life I’ve always enjoyed 

helping people.”



Financial planning 
report

In addition, there has been much media 
attention of the quality of financial advice 
in financial services so Prime Super 
has spent much time and diligence 
determining how it might be able to 
provide these services to members.

The model that we chose enables a 
range of advice services to be provided 
to members depending on their 
requirements. Prime Super members have 
access to advice to assist them to manage 
their account and plan for retirement. They 
can call and discuss any queries they have. 
If the phone call is not sufficient to address 
their queries and they decide to meet with 
a financial planner, the first meeting is at 
no additional cost.

A Financial Planner can help them 
with a wide range of financial matters 
including ongoing retirement planning 
and achieving their financial goals. 
Financial Planners employed by Prime 
Super are authorised representatives of 
PGW Financial Services Pty Ltd (PGW) 
AFSL 384713, ABN 15 123 835 441. PGW 
is responsible for personal financial 
advice provided by their authorised 
representatives.

There has been strong interest from 
members during the year as shown  
by these highlights: 

• One-off full personal advice has been 
provided to members holding more 
than $65m in financial assets. 

• The fee structure is fair and reasonable.
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229
Provided general advice and 
education to 229 members 

954
Spoke generally to 954 members

$31.7M
Funds under advice where members 
are receiving ongoing advice

1,231
Total member interactions 

112
Prepared and issued  
112 Financial Plans

5
Presented at 5 member seminars

14
Presented at 14 workplaces

A key need for members is to have access to sound 
financial advice. The right advice at the right time will assist 
members with decisions in the accumulation, transition to 
and then retirement phases of their adult life.

Insurance 

Delivering quality insurance products continues to be a major 
focus for Prime Super. This year we undertook a market 
review of insurance offering and our insurance partner. 

New insurer
Following a review of insurance 
arrangements, which included a thorough 
tender process, TAL has been appointed 
as Prime Super’s insurance provider. This 
took effect from 1 July 2019.

There was no change to premium rates for 
existing members with current premiums 
locked in for a 3-year period. This is great 
news for members given the significant 
upward pressure on cost across the 
industry due to the ‘Protecting Your Super’ 
changes. Prime Super’s existing members 
will see no change to their benefits, other 
than Health members where default 
Income Protection for new members will 
be discontinued. Existing members will 
retain their default income protection 
cover, while new members will be offered  
it on an opt-in basis.

TAL is the insurance provider for former 
Combined Super members who are now 
part of Prime Super’s Education division. 
Key to the decision was that TAL confirmed 
their continued support for those members 
while also being able to extend support to 
Prime Super’s other members.

New insurance member  
online portal 
Later this year we will launch our new 
online insurance portal that is a fully 
interactive solution that allows members 
to submit and track applications for 
insurance. Members will also be able 
increase, decrease or cancel their existing 
cover. We will also shortly launch claim 
assist an interactive portal that will assist 
members through their claim journey.                 

Web resources

This year we developed two calculators so 
that members can check to see what levels 
of insurance may be applicable for them. 
It was created with our new Insurer – TAL 
– and can be found on the Prime Super 
website at PrimeSuper.com.au.

Key insurance results for the year:

• Fastest online claim processed  
– 30 minutes.

• 97% of claims successful.

• 44,883 number of members who have 
nominated beneficiaries.

• 2,244 members who have made binding 
beneficiary.   
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Protecting Your  
Super reforms

The Federal Government’s ‘Protecting Your Super’ package 
came into effect on 1 July 2019. The package, which includes 
rules regarding fees, inactive accounts and insurance has 
been designed to protect Australians’ super savings from 
unnecessary erosion by fees and insurance costs.

These changes mean we will need to 
change the way we administer some 
members’ accounts.

Changes to insurance
Accounts with no contributions or rollovers 
for a continuous period of 16 months, will 
lose insurance cover unless you opt-in to 
keep your cover.

From 1 July 2019, your insurance will be 
cancelled if your account has not received 
a contribution or rollover for a period of 
16 continuous months. If your account is 
at risk of losing insurance cover, you will 
already have received a communication 
from us advising that this is the case and 
what you need to do if you would like to 
retain your cover.

Ongoing, we will advise all members 
whose account has not received 
contributions or rollovers at the 6, 12 and 
15-month mark providing you with the 
opportunity for you to keep your cover if 
you wish.

Insurance is an important element of your 
super account. It is important to note 
however, that insurance premiums are 

deducted from super balances which can 
reduce the amount of money available  
for retirement.

If you have a low account balance, or you 
are no longer receiving contributions 
to your account, you should consider if 
maintaining insurance cover is right for 
you. If you would like information about 
insurance in super, please visit ASIC’s 
MoneySmart website or seek financial 
advice.

If you wish to maintain your insurance 
cover, you can do any of the following:

• Login to your secure MemberOnline 
account and elect to keep your 
insurance cover;

• Complete and return an Election to 
Maintain and/or Reinstate Insurance 
Cover Form; or

• Contribute to your account, or rollover 
funds from another super fund into your 
Prime Super account,

before your account has been inactive for  
a continuous 16-month period.
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Inactive Super Accounts
Inactive accounts with balances below 
$6,000 will be transferred to the ATO.

If your account has been continuously 
inactive for 16 months, you have a balance 
less than $6,000 and have not opted-in 
to receive insurance benefits, it will be 
transferred to the ATO.

The following events will prevent your 
account being transferred to the ATO for 
16 months:

• Making regular contributions to your 
Prime Super superannuation account 
either through your employer or through 
voluntary contributions;

• Making a change to your investment 
strategy;

• Making certain changes to your 
insurance coverage;

• Making or amending a beneficiary 
nomination; or

• Completing a declaration sent to you by 
Prime Super and then sending it to the 
ATO (or Prime Super who will send it to 
the ATO) stating that you want to retain 
your benefits with Prime Super.

If you have chosen to keep an amount 
of money with Prime Super for insurance 
purposes, you will need to complete an 
Election to Maintain and/or Reinstate 
Insurance Cover Form and send it back  
to us.

Once your account has been transferred to 
the ATO, you will no longer be a member 
of Prime Super and any related benefits 
you have will cease.

Within 28 days of receiving your money, 
the ATO will try to transfer your account to 
an active super fund if you have one. This 
is likely to be the super fund account to 
which you make regular payments.



Community  
engagement
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RCSA
The Recruitment, Consulting  
and Staffing Association

On 1 July 2017, Prime Super became the 
RCSA’s Principal Partner. This partnership 
allows us to work with leading recruitment 
businesses to drive better retirement 
outcomes for all of their employees - both 
permanent and on-hire.

Our support provides the RCSA with the 
backing it needs to advocate for and 
support the recruitment industry well  
into the future.

In a complex, rapidly changing 
employment market, the RCSA’s role is 
more important than ever: educating its 
members, lobbying on their behalf, and 
increasing the professionalism of the 
industry.

With support from Prime Super, the  
RCSA can continue to achieve its goals, 
supporting the industry and the many 

thousands of people it employs.

ARLF
Australian Rural Leadership Foundation

Prime Super proudly supports the 
Australian Rural Leadership Foundation 
- a not for profit organisation that 
delivers dynamic programs designed 
to create a strong network of leaders 
in diverse industries, sectors, regions 
and communities in rural and regional 
Australia.

Through our sponsorship of a scholarship 
to participate in the program, we have 
made a small contribution to the success 
story of our scholarship participants Sandra 
Glaister, Edwina Sharrock and Alex Dunn.

Regional Achievement and 
Community Awards
Awards Australia

Through our partnership with the Regional 
Achievement and Community Awards 
(in Victoria, New South Wales, ACT 
and Western Australia) and Community 
Achievement Awards (in South Australia, 
Queensland and Tasmania) we sponsor a 
number of awards that recognise the hard 
work of people, individuals and businesses 
that support and enhance the social, 
economic, commercial or environmental 
prosperity of their region.

Prime Super Employer 
Excellence in Aged Care Award
With an ageing population, aged care 
facilities and the services they provide 
are an important part of the lives of an 
ever-increasing number of people. The 
Prime Super Employer Excellence in Aged 
Care Award recognises and acknowledges 
businesses, organisations and not for 
profits who have a strong focus on staff 
engagement, safety and wellbeing, 
training and providing staff with higher 
education learning opportunities and 
development.

The Award also recognises the provision 
of quality services for clients, patients 
and residents. The Award acknowledges 
aged care facilities, organisations, not for 
profits and businesses making a positive 
difference in the industry.

Prime Super Agricultural 
Innovation Award
(all states except WA and TAS)

Australian agricultural production 
and supply chain management has a 
long history of innovation to maximise 
efficiency, develop new products, and 
open new market opportunities, despite 
the challenges of climate, soil types and 
location. The Award showcases this spirit 
of innovation through their application of 
technology or process improvement to 
demonstrably enhance production and 
increase efficiency, maximising returns 
along the value chain, particularly where 
that value flows back to the primary 
producer.

Prime Super Business 
Achievement Award
(WA & TAS)

In regional and rural areas successful 
businesses are making important 
economic contributions. Creative 
business and commercial ventures 
provide opportunities for regional growth, 
productivity, leadership, training and 
employment. Businesses are continuing to 
realise their corporate vision and mission 
in areas such as product development, 
manufacturing and construction, 
agriculture, primary industry, e-commerce, 
wholesaling, exporting, retailing, trades 
and other professional services.

This Award acknowledge and highlight the 
continued success and achievements of 
business leaders and businesses. 

National Farmers Federation
The National Farmers Federation is the 
peak national body representing farmers 
and, more broadly, agriculture across 
Australia. It is one of Australia’s foremost 
and respected advocacy organisations. 
Prime Super has a long affinity with the 
agricultural sector and we are proud to 
continue to partner with the National 
Farmers Federation and the various state 
farming bodies to ensure that workers in 
this space get the best retirement outcome 
they can.

LASA
Leading Aged Services Australia

LASA is the national peak body 
representing and supporting providers of 
age services across residential care, home 
care and retirement living.

Their vision is to enable a high performing, 
respected sustainable aged services 
industry delivering affordable, accessible 
quality care and services for older 
Australians.

We are extremely proud to be LASA’s 
Regional Partner which enables them 
to provide education to the aged care 
industry in regional locations across 
Australia.

MAA
Meaningful Ageing Australia

Meaningful Ageing Australia’s vision is for 
meaning, purpose and connectedness to 
be part of every ageing journey. As the 
peak body for spiritual care and ageing, 
they know it can come as quite a surprise 

to many people to find out that spirituality 
is more than religion. Spirituality is integral 
to, but not confined by, religion and faith. 
It is about what gives us a purpose to our 
lives. It is about our sources of meaning 
and hope, which in turn is intimately 
related to our connectedness to ourselves, 
to others and to the world. 

Meaningful Ageing Australia, a not for 
profit membership based organisation, is 
leading the aged care sector in developing 
capability to tune in to what matters most 
to the people who are accessing aged care 
services. Prime Super is proud to be a lead 
partner supporting Meaningful Ageing’s 
innovative work to help the aged care 
workforce bring their best selves in to their 
engagement with each older person.

Other partners
Prime Super is also proud to partner with:

Nursery and Garden Industry, Victorian 
Farmers Federation, NSW Farmers,  
WA Farmers and Shearing Industry.

Prime Super is proud to be directly involved with the 
communities that it serves. We have entered into a number 
of partnerships and support our members and employers 
through programs throughout the country.
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Your Trustee  
Board
The Trustee, Prime Super Pty Ltd, is responsible for managing 
the Fund. The Directors of the Trustee meet regularly to discuss 
management of the Fund and determine important policies 
and procedures. Directors receive fees and are reimbursed for 
travelling expenses for attending board and committee meetings.

The Trust Deed
The Fund is governed by a Trust Deed 
which, amongst other things, sets out the 
entitlements of members and obligations 
of the Trustee. 

Complying fund
Prime Super is a complying 
superannuation fund for taxation purposes. 
All necessary returns and certificates have 
been lodged with APRA. Once the audit 
of Prime Super’s Financial Statements is 
complete, returns for the year to 30 June 
2019 will also be lodged with APRA.

The Trustee is not aware of any matter 
which would cause the Fund to lose its 
complying status. No penalties under 
superannuation law have been imposed.

The Trustee has established a number of 
committees, as appointed by the Board, 
to assist in managing its functions and 
responsibilities. Directors sit on these 
committees. A list of all committees and 
committee members is listed below.

Participating employers are also entitled to 
establish a policy committee to consider 
the operation and performance of the 
Fund and communicate the views of 
members and employers to the Trustee. 
Policy committees must be made up of an 
equal number of member and employer 
representatives. 

At 30 June 2019 there were no policy 
committees.

Trustee liability insurance
The Trustee has liability insurance to 
protect it, and the Directors and Officers, 
against any losses arising as a result of a 
claim for a breach of their duty. 

Conflict of interests
The Trustee has established procedures 
to ensure any conflict of interest in 
respect of the Directors is disclosed and 
appropriately dealt with.

Investment  
committee

Gerard Parlevliet (Chair)

Alan Bowman

Duncan Fraser

Martin Day

Brett Lazarides

Matthew Scholten

Audit 
compliance & 
risk committee

David Cooper (Chair)

Duncan Fraser

Jacqueline Kelly

Gary Bonello

Ray Russell

Gavin Watson

Claims 
committee

David Cooper (Chair)

Duncan Fraser

Matthew Scholten

Policy review 
committee

David Cooper (Chair)

Martin Day

Jacqueline Kelly

Gavin Watson

Remuneration 
committee

David Cooper (Chair)

Gary Bonello

Alan Bowman

Martin Day

Duncan Fraser

Jacqueline Kelly

Brett Lazarides

Gerard Parlevliet

Ray Russell

Matthew Scholten

Gavin Watson

Board meeting attendance for the year ended 30 June 2019
Board 

meetings
Investment 
committee

Audit 
committee

Remuneration 
committee

Director A B A B A B A B

Alan Bowman 
(Chairman)

6 6 6 6 6 0 4 4

David Cooper 5 6 5 0 5 6 3 4

Martin Day 6 6 6 6 6 1 4 4

Duncan Fraser 6 6 6 6 6 6 4 4

Jacqueline Kelly 6 6 5 0 6 6 4 4

Gerard Parlevliet 6 6 5 6 6 0 4 4

Liam O'Brien# 3 4 3 0 3 4 0 0

Matthew Scholten^ 3 3 3 2 3 0 4 4

Ray Russell^ 3 3 3 0 3 2 4 4

Gavin Watson^ 3 3 3 0 3 2 4 4

Gary Bonello^ 3 3 3 0 3 2 4 4

Brett Lazarides^ 3 3 3 2 3 0 4 4

 * All board members are permitted to attend Committee meetings even if they are not a member of the Committee. 
 # Resigned from the Board on 27 February 2019. 
^ Joined the Board on 1 January 2019.

A = Meetings attended    B = Eligible to attend
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1. Alan Bowman
Chairman and Independent Director

Alan has had a long-standing career in 
public service and the private sector with 
over 40 years’ experience consulting to both 
State and Federal Government and other 
associations within the agricultural industry. 
Alan also has extensive knowledge and 
experience within the insurance sector, both 
nationally and internationally, through his 
role as an advisor to leading insurers and 
underwriters.

Alan’s deep involvement with industry 
associations such as the Victorian Farmers 
Federation has seen him advise at State and 
Federal levels in the areas of agriculture, 
industrial relations and superannuation. Alan 
has also held various board roles over the 
years within agricultural and development 
organisations, including the Australian 
Pacific Dairy Company Limited and the 
International Fibre Centre. 

Appointed to the Board: 26 January 2001 
(appointed Chairman 1 January 2011)

2. David Cooper
Independent Director

David has had a distinguished career in the 
legal industry, having been a partner of the 
legal firm Herbert Smith Freehills for more 
than 25 years before retiring from the firm 
in December 2015. David practises in the 
area of financial services law and is a leading 
expert in the areas of superannuation and 
life insurance law.

David is widely regarded as one of 
Australia’s best superannuation lawyers, 
having been voted Superannuation Lawyer 
of the Year (Sydney) in the 2012 ‘Best 
Lawyers’ survey and was considered as an 
expert by Who’s Who Legal in the area 
of ‘Pensions and Benefits’ in their annual 
market research published in ‘Who’s Who 
Legal: Labour, Employment & Benefits’ in 
each of July 2016 and July 2017.

David holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
(Accounting and Financial Management) 
and a Bachelor of Laws from the University 
of New South Wales.

Appointed to the Board: 1 July 2009

3. Gerard Parlevliet
Independent Director

Before joining Prime Super, Gerard spent 
over 18 years working in the investment 
management and superannuation industry 
as a senior executive of Commonwealth 
Bank Group Super (the $10 billion staff 
fund for employees of the Commonwealth 

Bank) leading to in his appointment as Chief 
Investment Officer for 7 years before he 
retired from the fund in April 2017.

Gerard has extensive expertise and 
knowledge in superannuation and is 
a member of ASFA’s NSW Executive 
Committee and ASFA’s Economics and 
Investment Policy Council.

In 2013, Gerard was awarded a National 
Achievement Award as Chief Investment 
Officer of the Year and in 2017, was awarded 
an Industry Service Award from Selecting 
Super. Gerard is also a director of La Trobe 
Financial Asset Management Ltd.

Gerard holds a Bachelor of Business, 
Diploma of Superannuation Management, 
Diploma of Financial Planning and is 
a Certified Practicing Accountant and 
a Trustee Fellow of the Association of 
Superannuation Funds of Australia (ASFA).

Appointed to the Board: 22 June 2017

4. Duncan Fraser
NFF Representative Director

Duncan is a passionate advocate and 
representative of the agricultural community 
having split his career between his farm in 
Hay in NSW and his leadership positions 
with many national and state-based farming 
organisations, including the New South 
Wales Farmers Association (NSWFA), 
Wool Producers Australia and the National 
Farmers Federation (NFF).

From 1991 to 2007 Duncan held many 
executive positions within the NSWFA, 
including places on the general council and 
committees for wool, sheep meat, meat and 
livestock, education, workplace relations and 
conservation and resources management. He 
was the Chair of Farmsafe NSW from 1999 
to 2000 and a Vice President of the NSW 
Farmers’ Association from 2001 to 2003.

Duncan became the Vice-President of the 
NFF in 2010 and President in 2013, after 
more than 10 years as the NFF Industrial 
Committee’s Chairman. All the while, he was 
running his pastoral sheep and irrigated rice 
property in the Riverina. 

In 2015, Duncan was recognised with Member 
of the Order of Australia (AM) honours for 
his significant service to primary industry, 
particularly agriculture, to professional 
associations and to education and training. 

With his extensive experience in sheep meat 
and wool production, Duncan is also the past 
Chair of the Sheep Industry Co-operative 
Research Centre and the National Wild Dog 
Action Plan Implementation Committee. He 
is also involved with the local community 

having been a Governor on the Winifred 
West Schools Board and is a member of  
the Tocal Agricultural College Advisory 
Council. Duncan is currently a Trustee of  
the Australian Farmers’ Fighting Fund and  
a Director of the Shear Outback Museum. 

Duncan holds a Bachelor of Agricultural 
Economics from the University of New 
England.

Appointed to the Board: 25 August 2010

5. Martin Day
Independent Director

Martin has held significant executive 
leadership roles with 20 years’ experience in 
the health and aged care industry including 
his role as the former national CEO of St 
Vincent’s Health Australia Private Hospitals 
and, prior to that, as a senior executive 
manager at Mayne Health in Victoria, 
Western Australia and Tasmania.

Martin has had an extensive board career 
through his directorships on the boards of 
Mercy Health Australia and its associated 
companies, and the boards of Cabrini 
Health Ltd, Southern Cross Care (Vic) and 
Green Acres Golf Club Ltd.

Martin holds a MBA from Deakin University 
and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

Appointed to the Board: 28 October 2014

6. Jacqueline Kelly
Independent Director

Jacqueline has held the role of CEO at 
Lutheran Community Care in Queensland 
for more than nine years and has extensive 
experience in the public, private and not-
for-profit sectors across a range of industries 
including health and aged care.

A strong advocate for leadership 
development she has co-authored a number 
of papers on leadership and takes an active 
role in supporting and mentoring women 
in leadership positions. Jacqueline is also 
a trustee of the Committee for Economic 
Development of Australia.

Jacqueline holds a Masters of Business 
Administration and a Bachelor of Arts and 
has completed strategy and governance  
programs with the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and Harvard.

Appointed to the Board: 24 February 2015

7. Gary Bonello
Independent Director

Mr Bonello is the Business Manager at 
Overnewton Anglican Community College 
and was a director of the Trustee of 
Combined Super prior to its merger with 
Prime Super.

Appointed to the Board: 1 January 2019

8. Brett Lazarides
Independent Director

Brett is a professional company director 
with 30 years’ experience in the financial 
services industry, spanning insolvency, 
investment banking, funds management, 
superannuation, directorships and 
consulting. He is a specialist in unlisted 
infrastructure and has wide-ranging 
commercial, financing and investment 
governance capabilities to actively protect 
and enhance the interests of investors.

Brett’s executive career has involved 
extensive transactional activity within 
wholesale capital markets for some of 
Australia’s largest financial institutions. His 
involvement in the superannuation industry 
spans two decades, including as a nominee 
director representing institutional investor 
interests on various investee infrastructure 
company boards.

Today, Brett holds a diverse range of 
independent fiduciary roles across the 
superannuation, infrastructure, global 
funds management, private market and 
sustainable investment sectors.

Brett holds a Bachelor of Arts in Accounting, 
a Diploma in Applied Finance & Investment 
and a Diploma of Superannuation. He is 
a Chartered Accountant of 25 years and 
is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, the Financial Services 
Institute of Australasia and the Australian 
Institute of Superannuation Trustees. He is 
an individual member of the Responsible 
Investment Association of Australasia and 
recently completed the Non-Executive 
Director Programme with the Institute for 
Sustainability Leadership, University of 
Cambridge.

Appointed to the Board: 1 January 2019

9. Ray Russell
Independent Director

Recently retired, Ray worked in a business 
administration role at The Geelong College 
since January 2000. During that time, he 
served as an Employee Representative on 
the Combined Super Board as a director for 
10 years from 2009 to December 2018.

Throughout his career he spent many years in 
a variety of treasury roles within the banking 
and funds management industry. Ray was 
appointed Manager, Group Treasury for the 
Bendigo Bank Group following their merger 
with the Capital Building Society in 1993.

Appointed to the Board: 1 January 2019

10. Matthew Scholten
Independent Director

Matthew is Executive Chairman / Practice 
Principal of Scholten Collins McKissock – a 
corporate Authorised Representative of 
Elect Wealth Management Pty Ltd. He 
is a Certified Financial Planner and has 
qualifications from the Australian Insurance 
Institute, the SMSF Association and ASFA. 
Matthew is a member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and the 
Australian Institute of Superannuation 
Trustees.

Matthew’s career in financial services began 
in 1987. He held management positions 
prior to 1996 with Prudential (where he was 
originally licensed as a financial planner 
though Financial Wisdom) and Scottish 
Australia (formerly Scottish Amicable). 
He worked in a variety of roles including 
business development, client service, sales 
and marketing, corporate superannuation 
and product development.

As an adviser Matthew specialises in 
superannuation (including self-managed 
superannuation) and investment markets.

Appointed to the Board: 1 January 2019

11. Gavin Watson
Independent Director

Gavin is currently Dean of Staff at Haileybury, 
one of Australia’s largest schools. He 
has been actively involved in education 
throughout his professional life, and over 
the last 30 years has taught in South Africa, 
the United Kingdom and Australia. He holds 
the degrees of Bachelor of Commerce 
from the University of the Witwatersrand, 
and Bachelor of Arts (Honours) from the 
University of Cape Town. Gavin has been 
involved in managing the pastoral care of 
students and staff throughout his career, 
as well as teaching English through all 
senior levels. He has been involved in the 
superannuation industry as an employee 
representative on the Board of Combined 
Super since 2011, and as Chair of the 
Governance and Compliance Committee 
since 2016. 

Appointed to the Board: 1 January 2019
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Management
 1. Lachlan Baird

Chief Executive Officer

Lachlan has been involved in the 
superannuation industry for over 20 years 
gaining experience in many and varying 
aspects of the industry. He began his 
career as an Auditor and subsequently 
managed the outsourced fund accounting 
function of a major super administrator. 
Lachlan also held a senior role in a large 
industry superannuation fund before taking 
on the role of CEO of Prime Super in 2005.

Lachlan holds a Bachelor of Chemical 
Engineering, a Bachelor of Commerce, and 
is a Chartered Accountant.

2. Luke Banfield
Chief Operating Officer

Luke Banfield is the Chief Operating 
Officer for Prime Super, joining Prime 
Super in December 2018. Luke has over 25 
years’ experience in the financial services 
industry across both the superannuation 
and insurance sectors. He has a proven 
track record of delivering market leading 
customer service and operational 
performance in highly regulated and 
complex business environments, as well as 
large scale transformational change.

Prior to joining Prime Super, Luke 
worked for MetLife Australia as the Chief 
Operating Officer. He was responsible 
for the executive management of the 
insurance operations of Australia, Hong 
Kong, Malaysia, Bangladesh, Vietnam and 
Nepal.

3. Wendy Shang
General Counsel and  
Assistant Company Secretary

Wendy has had over 13 years’ experience 
working as a senior legal practitioner 
in both private practice and in-house 
and has acted for clients within the 
areas of superannuation, corporate 
and commercial, financial services and 
litigation.

She joined Prime Super in 2009 and her 
role as General Counsel and Assistant 
Company Secretary involves overseeing 
the legal, governance and company 
secretarial functions within Prime Super.

Wendy holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons), a 
Bachelor of Commerce and a Certificate in 
Governance Practice (Governance Institute 
of Australia).

4. Remo Memmolo
Chief Financial Officer

Remo joined Prime Super in 2015 working 
on a range of financial and strategic 
initiatives. With over 30 years financial 
services experience, Remo has delivered 
strong results and improved efficiency, 
whilst focusing on service excellence. 

During the course of his career, Remo has 
lead complex and diverse operations. He 
has extensive experience in investments, 
relationship management, change 
management, financial budgeting and 
reporting and managing director positions.

Prior to joining Prime Super, Remo worked 
with and contributed to the growth 
of various organisations including the 
Norwich Group, AXA Australia, Australian 
Unity Investments, Merrill Lynch Investment 
Managers and BlackRock Investment 
Management in the capacity of Managing 
Director – Business Operations. Remo is an 
avid sports fan and is a loyal supporter of 

the Richmond Tigers.

5. Jane Kang
General Manager, Investments

Jane joined Prime Super in November 
2015. She has over 25 years’ experience 
in the financial services industry. Jane 
comes with a strong background in 
accounting and solid understanding of the 
superannuation industry.

With her experience in investments and 
investment operations Jane flawlessly 
manages expectations and relationships 
with Prime Super’s fund managers, 
investment consultants and custodians. 
Having managed investment operations 
teams through significant growth and 
changes, Jane understands and supports 
the development of collaborative 
relationships at all levels within the 
organisation.

Jane holds a Bachelor of Economics and a 
Graduate Diploma of Applied Finance and 
Investments.

6. Ann Wong
General Manager, Risk and Compliance

Ann joined Prime Super in 2016 as the 
General Manager, Risk and Compliance. 
She brings with her 28 years of experience 
in the financial services industry, 
particularly in the compliance and risk 
arena.

She and her team are responsible for 
maintaining a robust risk and compliance 
framework to protect and support the 
organisation in achieving its objectives. 

Ann holds a Bachelor of Economics and a 
Graduate Diploma of Financial Planning. 
She is also a Certified Financial Planner.

7. Mark Ashburn
General Manager, Distribution

Mark joined the Prime Super team in 
September 2016 as General Manager 
Distribution. He is responsible for supporting 
our regional manager team who represent 
our brand throughout Australia and delivery 
of efficient and effective distribution 
strategies for the fund.

Mark has more than 30 years’ experience 
in financial services and has held executive 
roles in sales and operations for both 
large and medium size organisations. His 
superannuation experience includes more 
than 5 years in a leadership role with an 
industry super fund complemented by a 
role with global professional services firm 
EY in the Wealth and Asset Management 
practice.

Mark is passionate about providing the 
members of Prime Super with the best 
retirement outcome they can expect from 
their lifetime of work. In his free time, Mark 
is a keen cyclist and loves water skiing.

8. Rachael Powell
Marketing and Communications Manager

Rachael has more than 10 years marketing 
and communications experience in 
the financial services industry. Her 
experience includes direct marketing, 
communications, digital, brand and 
publications.

She joined Prime Super in 2009 as the 
Marketing and Communications Manager 
and is responsible for overseeing all of 
the Fund’s marketing and communication 
activities.

Rachael holds a Bachelor of Arts (Media 
and Communications) and is passionate 
about helping members better understand 
their superannuation benefits so they can 
get the best retirement outcome. Rachael 
loves to travel and looks forward to seeing 
much more of the world.

Rachael left Prime Super on 7 June 2019. 
Helen Whitehead commenced in the role 
of Interim General Manager, Marketing  
& Communications in the same month.

9. George Kogios
General Manager, Strategy

George joined Prime Super in 
January 2019 and has a wealth of 
senior management experience. In a 
career spanning more than 25 years 
he has developed a special focus on 
superannuation and supports Prime 
Super’s growing expertise in the education 
and health sectors. He is also a Fellow of 
the The Association of Superannuation 
Funds of Australia (ASFA).

He was the Chair of Combined Super, 
retiring at the end of 2018 and is currently 
Chair of IPC Health. He has throughout his 
career developed significant experience in 
corporate governance, strategic planning, 
compliance and financial management.

George has also managed the 
implementation of a number of new 
budgetary systems in both public 
and private schools and has been 
responsible for all administrative functions, 
procurement and finance. He has also 
developed partnership programs and 
worked closely with school councils and 
boards to develop their strategic plans.

George has also completed a Bachelor 
of Business and Accounting, Graduate 
Diploma of Taxation and a Diploma of 
Superannuation Management.
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Prime Super’s management team 
has extensive experience in all 
aspects of superannuation
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Remuneration
As an industry super fund, Prime Super is run only to benefit members. The Fund’s 
remuneration practices are set out in a Remuneration Policy maintained by the Board.

Director remuneration
The Prime Super Board is responsible for reviewing and setting Directors’ remuneration. 

Remuneration is set at a level that recognises the responsibilities of Directors, 
acknowledges the expectations of Directors at law, is set at a level that is comparative to 
market, and encompasses all activities of Directors.

Directors are separately remunerated for additional activities they undertake on behalf of 
the Board, outside their normal duties. Remuneration for such activities is only payable 
where the Chair/Board has approved of those activities.

The Chair of the Board, Chair of the Investment Committee and the Chairman of the 
Audit Compliance & Risk Committee (ACRC) receive a higher level of remuneration as a 
reflection of the increased workload and responsibility associated with those roles.

Prime Super Board of Directors

Name
Position 
held

Date appointed  
to Board

Date appointed 
to role Date ceased

Gary Bonello1 Director 1 January 2019

Alan Bowman Chairman 26 January 2001 1 January 2011

David Cooper3 Director 1 July 2009

Martin Day Director 28 October 2014

Duncan Fraser Director 25 August 2010

Jacqueline Kelly Director 24 February 2015

Liam O’Brien2 Director 27 April 2016 27 February 2019

Brett Lazarides1 Director 1 January 2019

Gerard Parlevliet4 Director 22 June 2017

Ray Russell1 Director 1 January 2019

Matthew Scholten1 Director 1 January 2019

Gavin Watson1 Director 1 January 2019

1 Directors appointed to the Prime Super Board 1 January 2019.

2 Resigned as Director – Liam O’Brien 

3 Chairman of the Audit Compliance and Risk Committee (ACRC)

4 Chairman of the Investment Committee 

Director remuneration 
Director remuneration for the financial year 2019 is set out in the following table:

Director

Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits

Termination 
payments TOTAL

Cash 
salary1 

Additional 
remuneration

Other 
short-term 

compensation

Non-
monetary 

benefits

Pension and 
superannuation 

benefits

Other post-
employment 

benefits

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Gary Bonello3

2019 29,680 0 0 0 2,820 0 0 32,500

Alan Bowman

2019 91,324 0 0 0 8,676 0 0 100,000

2018 91,324 0 0 0 8,676 0 0 100,000

David Cooper

2019 68,493 16,809 0 0 7,561 0 0 92,863

2018 68,493 10,313 0 0 7,487 0 0 86,293

Martin Day

2019 59,361 0 0 0 5,639 0 0 65,000

2018 59,361 0 0 0 5,639 0 0 65,000

Duncan Fraser

2019 59,361 0 0 0 5,639 0 0 65,000

2018 59,361 6,047 0 0 6,214 0 0 71,622

Brett Lazarides3

2019 29,680 6,835 0 0 3,469 0 0 39,984

Liam O’Brien2 

2019 50,243 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,243

2018 66,990 0 0 0 0 0 0 66,990

Jacqueline Kelly

2019 59,361 0 0 0 5,639 0 0 65,000

2018 59,361 0 0 0 5,639 0 0 65,000

Gerard Parlevliet

2019 68,493 0 0 0 6,507 0 0 75,000

2018 70,115 0 0 0 6,601 0 0 76,776

Ray Russell3

2019 29,680 5,554 0 0 3,347 0 0 38,582

Matthew Scholten3

2019 29,680 0 0 0 2,820 0 0 32,500

Gavin Watson3

2019 29,680 0 0 0 2,820 0 0 32,500

1 Includes any salary sacrifice

2 Of the remuneration payable to Mr O’Brien, 100% is paid to his employer The Australian Workers Union. Resigned 27 February 2019.

3 Directors appointed to the Prime Super Board 1 January 2019.

Please note: No share-based remuneration or long-term benefits are paid or payable to Directors. 

 

 

Executive remuneration 
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To achieve its goals in relation to executive 
staff, the Remuneration Policy is designed 
to: 

• encourage executives to perform to 
their fullest capacity; 

• be business focused and flexible; 

• be competitive and cost effective in 
each relevant employment market; and 

• be internally consistent.

Executive remuneration may incorporate 
fixed and variable performance elements 
with both a short-term and long-term 
focus. 

In setting any performance-based 
component of remuneration, the Prime 
Super Board ensures that the performance-
based component supports: 

• protecting the interests, and meeting 
the reasonable expectations of 
members;

• the long-term soundness of the Fund 
Trustee and the Fund; and

• the risk management framework of the 
Fund Trustee.

Chief Executive Officer 
remuneration
The Prime Super Board is responsible 
for reviewing and setting the level and 
structure of remuneration of the Chief 
Executive Officer.

The Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration 
has due regard to industry practice and 
comparative information; it is set at a 
level and is structured to attract, motivate, 
reward and retain good performer to drive 
the Fund efficiently.

Other Executives’ 
remuneration 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible 
for reviewing and setting the level and 
structure of remuneration of the other 
Executives. 

Other Executives’ remuneration has due 
regard to industry practice, comparative 
information and the financial constraints 
of the business; it is set at a level and is 
structured to attract, motivate, reward and 
retain good performers to drive the Fund 
efficiently.

The Chief Executive Officer undertakes an 
annual review of the performance of the 
other Executives, including the assessment 
of any annual performance bonus to be 
awarded.

Prime Super Senior Executives

Name Position held Date appointed to role

Lachlan Baird Chief Executive Officer 21 March 2005

Luke Banfield Chief Operating Officer 3 December 2018

Remo Memmolo Chief Financial Officer 26 February 2015

Jane Kang General Manager, Investments 4 November 2015

George Kogios General Manager, Strategy 4 January 2019

Ann Wong General Manager, Risk & Compliance 3 October 2016

Executive  
remuneration

Executive remuneration for the financial year 2019 is set out in the following table: 

Executive remuneration

Executive 
officers

Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits

Cash salary 
& short-term 

compensated 
absences1 and 7 

$

Short-
term cash 
and other 

bonuses 
$

Non-
monetary 
benefits6 

$

Other 
short-term 
employee 

benefits 
$

Pension & 
superannuation 

benefits 
$

Other post-
employment 

benefits 
$

Termination 
payments 

$
TOTAL 

$

Lachlan Baird

2019 454,670 0 10,330 0 25,000 0 0 490,000

2018 427,601 21,188 9,333 0 25,000 0 0 483,122

Luke Banfield4

2019 160,417 0 0 0 14,583 0 0 175,000

Remo Memmolo2

2019 229,386 10,046 0 0 22,644 0 0 262,076

2018 196,027 17,352 0 0 20,188 0 0 233,567

Jane Kang2 & 3

2019 180,629 8,037 0 0 17,681 0 0 206,347

2018 158,927 14,977 0 0 16,521 0 0 190,425

George Kogios5

2019 89,826 0 0 0 8,058 0 0 97,884

Ann Wong2

2019 250,559 0 0 0 23,425 0 0 273,984

2018 234,018 15,982 0 0 23,750 0 0 273,750

Stephen Pratt9

2019 136,425 0 12,213 0 11,256 0 78,6338 238,527

2018 246,431 11,941 12,223 0 24,388 0 0 294,983

1 Includes any salary sacrifice superannuation items

2 Ms Wong, Ms Kang and Mr Memmolo became Responsible Officers 22 June 2017

3 Ms Kang is employed to work 4 days per week

4 Mr Banfield became a Responsible Officer 10 January 2019

5 Mr George Kogios became a Responsible Officer 2 May 2019

6 Includes GST where applied

7 Includes Motor Vehicle allowance where applicable 
8 Payment of leave entitlement 
9 Resigned 9 January 2019

Please note: No share-based remuneration is paid or payable to Executives.
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Executive performance-based components of remuneration 

Executive officers Date granted

Nature of 
compensation 
granted Service & performance criteria

% that was paid/
vested in the 
financial year

% that was not 
granted in the 
financial year

Lachlan Baird No entitlement to Bonus

Stephen Pratt 22 June 2018 Cash bonus Out-performance when measured 
against pre-agreed Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs include 
measures relating to the Fund and the 
individual, and include financial, people, 
member, strategy and risk measures.

0% 100%

Remo Memmolo 22 June 2018 Cash bonus Out-performance when measured 
against pre-agreed Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs include 
measures relating to the Fund and the 
individual, and include financial, people, 
member, strategy and risk measures.

50% 50%

Jane Kang 22 June 2018 Cash bonus Out-performance when measured 
against pre-agreed Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs include 
measures relating to the Fund and the 
individual, and include financial, people, 
member, strategy and risk measures.

50% 50%

Ann Wong 22 June 2018 Cash bonus Out-performance when measured 
against pre-agreed Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs include 
measures relating to the Fund and the 
individual, and include financial, people, 
member, strategy and risk measures.

0% 100%



Finance  
report

Prime Super continues to operate 
in a sound financial position.

While facing a challenging external 
environment, Prime Super has delivered 
our strategic plans for the year, while 
achieving a sound financial result that is  
in line with budget forecasts. Notable 
results detailed in the attached Financial 
Statements for the year ended 30 June 
2019 and the accompanying Notes to  
the Financial Statements include:

• an increase in Total Assets from  
$3.9 Billion to over $5.2 Billion for the 
financial year ending 30 June 2019;

• continued to maintain targeted levels of 
Administration Reserve and Operational 
Risk Reserves; and

• sustained positive cash flows at the end 
of the financial period.

Efficient and cost effective processes, 
coupled with robust expenditure 

practises, have enabled Prime Super 
to keep administration and operating 
expenses in check – achieved in a complex 
environment with increased regulatory 
requirements. Prime Super remains 
confident about its ability to continue 
to deliver sound financial results to our 
members. 

Compliance statement: 

Audited Financial Statements and Notes 
to the Financial Statements as at 30 June 
2019 are contained at pages 50 to 87 of 
this Annual Report. They can also be found 
at Prime Super’s website at primesuper. 
com.au. Financial Statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and other relevant 
requirements.

Contents of the Finance Report
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Note
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

Superannuation activities

Interest 215 55 

Dividend revenue 234,893 167,640 

Changes in assets measured at fair value 12 125,688 186,331 

Other income 551 4,356 

Total superannuation activities income 361,347 358,382 

Investment expenses (24,840) (22,369)

Administration expenses (8,800) (7,722)

Operating expenses 15 (16,255) (12,634)

Total expenses (49,895) (42,725)

Net result from superannuation activities 311,452 315,657 

Profit from operating activities 311,452 315,657 

Less: Net benefits allocated to members’ accounts (291,979) (299,911)

Less: Net change in defined benefit member liabilities (4,666)  - 

Profit/(loss) before income tax 14,807 15,746 

Income tax expense/(benefit) 14 17,489 35,082 

Profit after income tax (2,682) (19,336)

The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note
2019 

$’000
2018 
$’000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 17 15,546 12,161 

Receivables 10 865 648 

Investments

 Cash 628,338 539,215 

 Australian Shares 9 1,175,009 857,241 

 International Shares 9 1,122,903 835,970 

 Emerging Markets 9 288,492 220,458 

 Australian Fixed Interest 9 157,188 117,716 

 International Fixed Interest 9 343,440 262,565 

 Infrastructure 9 501,792 404,799 

 Property 9 367,814 188,938 

 Credit Opportunities 9 369,612 329,490 

 Private Equity 9 32,989 37,071 

 Absolute Return Strategies 9 228,780 156,088 

 Derivatives assets 9 7,505 2,865 

Property, plant and equipment 242 398 

Income tax receivable 14,263  2,155 

Total assets 5,254,778 3,967,778 

Liabilities

Payables 11 (11,104) (6,671)

Derivative liabilities 9 (19,079) (35,677)

Deferred tax liabilities 15 (80,924) (59,183)

Total liabilities excluding member benefits (111,107) (101,531)

Net assets available for member benefits 5,143,671 3,866,247 

Member benefits

Defined contribution member liabilities 3 (5,028,831) (3,840,140)

Defined benefits member liabilities 4 (78,279)  - 

Unallocated to members 3 (4,868) (6,582)

Total member liabilities (5,111,978) (3,846,722)

Net assets 31,693 19,525 

Equity

Administration reserve 13 (4,309) (5,929)

Investment reserve 13 (1,548) (3,766)

Operational risk reserve 13 (13,089) (9,830)

Defined benefits that are (over) funded (12,747)  - 

Total equity (31,693) (19,525)

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2019

Income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2019
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Statement of Changes in Member Benefits
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Statement of Changes in Reserves
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Administration 
reserve  

$’000

Investment 
reserve  

$’000

Operational 
risk reserve 

$’000

Defined 
benefit 
surplus  

$’000

Total  
equity  
$’000

Opening balance as at 1 July 2018 5,929 3,766 9,830  - 19,525 

Net transfers to/from reserves (247)  -  247  -  - 

Combined Super SFT 2,395  - 2,309  10,146 14,850 

Profit/(loss) (3,768) (2,218) 703  2,601 (2,682)

Closing balance as at 30 June 2019 4,309 1,548 13,089  12,747 31,693 

Administration 
reserve  

$’000

Investment 
reserve  

$’000

Operational 
risk reserve 

$’000

Defined 
benefit 
surplus  

$’000

Total  
equity  
$’000

Opening balance as at 1 July 2017  25,296 4,874 8,691  - 38,861 

Net transfers to/from reserves (474)  - 474  -  - 

Profit/(loss) (18,893) (1,108) 665  - (19,336)

Closing balance as at 30 June 2018 5,929 3,766 9,830  - 19,525

The above statement of changes in reserves should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

DC Members 
$’000

DB Members 
$’000

Total  
$’000

Opening balance of member benefits as at 1 July 2018 3,846,722  - 3,846,722 

Contributions:

Employer 279,189  1,525 280,714 

Member 55,077  155 55,232 

Transfer from other superannuation plans 91,018  - 91,018 

Transfer from other superannuation plans - Combined Super 803,611 76,773 880,384 

Government co-contributions 554  - 554 

Income tax on contributions (36,121) (192) (36,313)

Net after tax contributions 1,193,328 78,261 1,271,589 

Benefits to members/beneficiaries (290,475) (3,259) (293,734)

Transfers from defined benefit to defined contribution accounts 1,302 (1,302)  - 

Insurance premiums charged to members’ accounts (27,406) (87) (27,493)

Death and disability insurance benefits credited to members’ accounts 18,249  - 18,249 

Benefits allocated to members’ accounts, comprising:

 Net investment income 320,876  7,364 328,240 

 Administration fees (28,897) (97) (28,994)

Net change in DB member benefits  - (2,601) (2,601) 

Closing balance of member benefits as at 30 June 2019 5,033,699 78,279 5,111,978 

DC Members 
$’000

DB Members 
$’000

Total  
$’000

Opening balance of member benefits as at 1 July 2017 3,471,673 3,471,673 

Contributions:

Employer 236,265  - 236,265 

Member 44,119  - 44,119 

Transfer from other superannuation plans 56,859  - 56,859 

Government co-contributions 398  - 398 

Income tax on contributions (30,248)  - (30,248)

Net after tax contributions 307,393  - 307,393 

Benefits to members/beneficiaries (228,401)  - (228,401)

Insurance premiums charged to members’ accounts (27,920)  - (27,920)

Death and disability insurance benefits credited to members’ accounts 24,066  - 24,066 

Benefits allocated to members’ accounts, comprising:

 Net investment income 326,348  - 326,348 

 Administration fees (26,437)  - (26,437)

Closing balance of member benefits as at 30 June 2018 3,846,722  - 3,846,722

The above statement of changes in member benefits should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

1. Operation of the Fund
Prime Super Fund (the “Fund”) is a public 
offer defined contribution and defined 
benefit fund constituted by the Trust Deed 
dated 16 November 1993 (as amended). 
The Fund is domiciled and incorporated in 
Victoria, Australia. Its registered address is 
Level 10, 455 Bourke Street Melbourne 
Victoria 3000. The Fund is operated for the 
purpose of providing its members 
superannuation benefits on retirement.

Contributions of the employers and the 
employees are made in accordance with 
the terms of the Trust Deed. The members’ 
accounts are credited or debited each year 
with contributions and their proportionate 
share of the net investment income, 
expenses and income tax expense of the 
Fund.

The Trustee of the Fund is Prime Super Pty 
Ltd (‘the Trustee’) and it is the holder of a 
public offer class Registrable Superannuation 
Entity Licence (licence no L0000277). In 
accordance with amendments to the 
Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 
1993 the Fund was registered with the 
Australian Prudential Regulation Authroity.
The Fund was granted a MySuper licence on 
12 April 2013.

2.  Summary of significant 
accounting policies

The significant accounting policies have 
been consistently applied in the current 
financial year and the comparative period, 
unless otherwise stated. Where necessary, 
comparative information has been 
re-presented to be consistent with current 
period disclosures.

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are a general 
purpose financial report which has been 
prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board, 
the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) 
Act 1993 and regulations and the 
provisions of the Trust Deed.

The financials are presented in Australian 
Dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest $’000 except where otherwise 
indicated.

The Fund is a not-for-profit entity for the 
purpose of preparing financial statements.

The financial statements were approved  
by the Board of Directors of the Trustee, 
Prime Super Pty Ltd on 24th September 2019.

(b)  New accounting standards and 
interpretations

The Fund applied for the first time certain 
standards and amendments which are 
effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2018. The nature of each 
standard and/or amendment is described 
below. The adoption of this standard and 
amendment has not had any significant 
financial impact on the financial 
statements.

AASB 9/IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
(applicable from 1 July 2018)

AASB 9 brings together the classification 
and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting phases of the IASB’s project to 
replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. The 
adoption of this Standard did not have a 
material impact on the classification and 
measurement of the Fund’s financial assets 
and financial liabilities. The Fund’s financial 
instruments are measured at ‘fair value 
through profit or loss’ (FVTPL) which is in 
compliance with AASB 9 measurement 
requirements.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (applicable from 1 July 2018)

AASB 15 replaces AAB 111 Construction 
Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue and 
related Interpretations. AASB 15 specifies 
the accounting treatment for revenue 
arising from contracts with customers 
(except for contracts within the scope 
of other accounting standards such as 
financial instruments). The adoption of 
this standard did not have a material 
impact to the financial statements given 
the Fund’s revenue primarily consists of 
superannuation contributions, rollovers 
and investment income.

Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued but not  
yet effective

Certain Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations have recently been 
issued or amended but are not yet 
effective and have not been adopted by 
the Fund for the annual reporting period 
ended 30 June 2019. The impact of these 
standards and interpretations has been 
assessed and to the extent applicable to 
the Fund are outlined in the table below. 
Standards and interpretations that are not 
expected to have a material impact on the 
Fund have not been included.

Note
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest received 215 61 

Insurance proceeds 18,249 24,066 

Other general administration expenses (23,353) (19,882)

Other income 243  180 

Insurance premiums (25,199) (24,026)

Investment expenses (24,020) (22,332)

Income tax paid (7,856) (7,259)

Net cash outflows from operating activities 17 (61,721) (49,192)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investments (2,139,399) (212,650)

Proceeds from sale of investment 1,226,786 187,580 

Purchase of fixed assets (137) (59)

Net cash outflows from investing activities (912,750) (25,129)

Cash flows from financing activities

Employer contributions 280,714 236,263 

Member contributions 55,232 44,119 

Transfers from other superannuation plans received 971,401 56,899 

Government co-contributions received 554 398 

Benefits paid to members (293,734) (228,928)

Income tax paid on contributions received (36,311) (30,248)

Net cash inflows from financing activities 977,856 78,503 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 3,385 4,182 

Cash at the beginning of the financial period 12,161 7,979 

Cash at the end of the financial period 17 15,546 12,161

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2.  Summary of significant 
accounting policies 
(continued)

(c)  Financial assets and liabilities 

Classification

The Fund classifies its financial assets and 
financial liabilities into the categories 
below in accordance with AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments. In applying that classification, 
a financial asset or financial liability is 
considered to be held for trading if:

• It is acquired or incurred principally for 
the purpose of selling or repurchasing it 
in the near term; or

• On initial recognition, it is part of 
a portfolio of identified financial 
instruments that are managed together 
and for which there is evidence of a 
recent actual pattern of short-term 
profit-taking; or

• It is a derivative (except for a derivative 
that is a financial guarantee contract 
or a designated and effective hedging 
instrument).

Financial asset

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVPL).

A financial asset is measured at FVPL if:

• Its contractual terms do not give rise to 
cash flows on specified dates that are 
solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding; or

• It is not held within a business model 
whose objective is either to collect 
contractual cash flows, or to both collect 
contractual cash flows and sell; or

• At initial recognition, it is irrevocably 
designated as measured at FVPL when 
doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise 
from measuring assets or liabilities or 
recognising the gains and losses on 
them on different bases.

The Fund includes in this category:

• Financial instruments held for trading. 
This includes all instruments which are 
acquired principally for the purpose 

of generating a profit from short-term 
fluctuations in price. This category also 
includes derivative contracts in an asset 
position.

• Receivables including short-term 
receivables.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at FVPL.

A financial liability is measured at FVPL if  
it meets the definition of held for trading.

The Fund includes in this category 
derivative contracts in a liability position 
and all payables.

Classification - Policy effective before  
1 July 2018 (AASB 139)

The Fund classifies its financial assets and 
financial liabilities into the categories 
below in accordance with AASB 139.

Financial instruments designated at fair 
value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition

These financial assets are designated on the 
basis that they are part of a group of financial 
assets which are managed and have their 
performance evaluated on a fair value 
basis in accordance with risk management 
and investment strategies of the Fund.

Receivables

Receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. The Fund includes in this category 
short-term receivables.

Other financial liabilities

This category includes all financial liabilities, 
other than those classified at fair value 
through profit or loss. Amounts are 
generally settled within 30 days of being 
recognised as other financial liabilities. 
Given their short-term nature other financial 
liabilities are measured at their nominal 
amount which approximates fair value.

Recognition

The Fund recognises a financial asset or 
financial liability when, and only when, it 
becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time 
frame generally established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace are 
recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date 
that the Fund commits to purchase or sell 
the asset.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a 
part of a financial asset or part of a group 
of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
where:

i.  The rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset have expired; or

ii.  The Fund has transferred its rights  
to receive cash flows from the asset  
or has assumed an obligation to pay  
the received cash flows in full without 
material delay to a third party under  
a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and

iii.  Either (a) the Fund has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, or (b) the Fund has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, but 
has transferred control of the asset.

The Fund derecognises a financial liability 
when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are 
recorded in the statement of financial 
position at fair value. All transaction costs 
for such instruments are recognised 
directly in the income statement.

Receivables and financial liabilities (other 
than those classified at fair value through 
profit or loss) are measured initially at their 
fair value plus any directly attributable 
incremental costs of acquisition or issue.

For financial assets and liabilities where  
the fair value at initial recognition does  
not equal the transaction price, the Fund 
recognises the difference in the income 
statement, unless specified otherwise.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) New accounting standards and interpretations (continued)

Accounting Standard and Nature

Application 
Date of 

Standard

Application 
Date of  

the Fund

AASB 16 Leases 01-Jan-19 01-Jul-19

AASB 16 requires lessees to account for all leases to be recorded on balance sheet in a similar way to 
finance leases under AASB 117 Leases.

The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g. personal 
computers) and short-term leases (i.e. leases with a lease term of 12 months or less).

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e. the 
lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e. 
the right-of-use asset).

Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the 
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

Lessees will be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g. a 
change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate 
used to determine those payments).

The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an 
adjustment to the right-of-use asset

Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under AASB 117. Lessors will 
continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in AASB 117 and distinguish 
between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.

An assessment determined that existing operating leases were either of low value or near end of term 
and the Trustee does not expect any material impact on the financial statements.

AASB Interpretation 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1-Jan-19 01-Jul-19

The Interpretation clarifies the application of the recognition and measurement criteria in AASB 112 
Income Taxes when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments.

The Interpretation specifically addresses the following:

• Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately

• The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities

• How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 
tax rates.

• How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.

AASB 2018-7 - Definition of material 1-Jan-20 01-Jul-20

This Standard amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and AAS 108 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to align the definition of ‘material’ across the standards and 
to clarify certain aspects of the definition.

The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information. An entity 
will need to assess whether the information, either individually or in combination with other information, is 
material in the context of the financial statements. A misstatement of information is material if it could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2.  Summary of significant 
accounting policies 
(continued)

(h) Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for 
all taxable temporary differences except:

• Where the deferred tax liability arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss.

• When the taxable temporary difference 
is associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures, and the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference can 
be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences, 
carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry-forward of 
unused tax assets and unused tax losses 
can be utilised, except:

• Where the deferred tax asset relating to 
the deductible temporary differences 
arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor the taxable 
profit or loss.

• In respect of deductible temporary 
differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries, associates or interests 
in joint ventures in which case a 
deferred tax asset is only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary difference will reverse 
in the foreseeable future and taxable 
profit will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 
is reviewed at each balance date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will 
be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at each balance date and  
are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable  
profit will allow the deferred tax asset  
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the balance date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities are offset only if a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate 
to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

(i) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of GST, 
except:

• When the GST incurred on a sale or 
purchase of assets or services is not 
payable to or recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case  
the GST is recognised as part of the 
revenue or the expense item or as  
part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset, as applicable; or

• When receivables and payables are 
stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amounts of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the taxation authority is 
included as part of receivables or payables 
in the statement of financial position. 
Commitments and contingencies are 
disclosed net of the amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority.

Cash flows are included in the statement  
of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST 
component of cash flows arising from 
investing activities, which is recoverable 
from, or payable to the taxation authority 
are classified as operating cash flows.

(j)  Superannuation contribution 
surcharge

The Superannuation Laws Amendment 
(Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes 
both the superannuation contributions 
surcharge and the termination payments 
surcharge in respect of superannuation 
contributions and certain termination 
payments made or received on or after  
1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in 
respect of contributions and payments for 
the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior 
years will continue to be issued and remain 
payable.

Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is 
levied on surchargeable contributions for a 
relevant year on the basis of the individual 
member’s adjusted taxable income for that 
year. The liability for the Superannuation 
Contribution Surcharge is recognised when 
the assessment is received, as the Trustee 
considers this is when it can be reliably 
measured.

The superannuation surcharge liability 
recognised by the Fund has been charged 
to the relevant members’ accounts.

(k) Foreign currency

The functional and presentation currency 
of the Fund is Australian Dollars, which is 
the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates. The 
Fund’s performance is evaluated and its 
liquidity managed in Australian Dollars. 
Therefore, the Australian Dollar is 
considered as the currency that most 
faithfully represents the economic effects 
of the underlying transactions, events and 
conditions.

Transactions in foreign currencies are 
initially recorded at the functional currency 
spot rate at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the functional currency spot 
rates of exchange at the reporting date.

2.  Summary of significant 
accounting policies 
(continued)

(c)  Financial assets and liabilities 
(continued)

Subsequent measurement

After initial measurement, the Fund 
measures financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 
Subsequent changes in the fair value of 
those investments are recorded as 
‘changes in assets measured at fair value’ 
through the income statement. Interest 
earned is recorded in ‘interest revenue’ 
according to the terms of the contract. 
Dividend revenue is recorded in ‘dividend 
revenue’.

(d) Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction betwen market 
participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on 
the presumption that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place either:

•  In the principal market for the asset or 
liability, or

• In the absence of a principal market, in 
the most advantageous market for the 
asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous 
market must be accessible by the Fund.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is 
measured using the assumptions that 
market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 
market participants act in their economic 
best interest.

The Fund uses valuation techniques that 
are appropriate in the circumstances and 
for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value 
is measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements are categorised within the fair 
value hierarchy. Refer to Note 9.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the 
statement of financial position comprise 
cash at bank and in hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less, which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purposes of the statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and short-term deposits as defined 
above.

(f) Receivables and payables

Receivables are carried at nominal 
amounts which approximate their fair 
value. Receivables are normally settled 
within 30 days. An allowance for 
uncollectible amounts is only made where 
there is objective evidence that the debt 
will not be collected. Objective evidence 
may include indications that the debtor or 
a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy 
or other financial reorganisation and 
observable data indicating that there is a 
measureable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows, such as changes in 
arrears or economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults.

Payables are carried at nominal amounts 
which are approximate fair value. They 
represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Fund prior to the end of 
the financial year that are unpaid when the 
Fund becomes obliged to make future 
payments in respect of the purchase of 
these goods or services. Payables are 
normally settled on 30 day terms.

(g) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Fund and the revenue can be 
reliably measured, regardless of when the 
payment is received. Revenue is measured 
at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, taking into account 
contractually defined terms of payment 
and excluding taxes or duty. The specific 
recognition criteria described below must 
also be met before revenue is recognised:

Changes in assets measured at fair 
value

Changes in the fair value of investments 
and derivatives are calculated as the 
difference between the fair value at sale, or 
at balance date, and the fair value at the 
previous valuation point. All changes are 
recognised in the income statement.

Interest 

Interest revenue on cash and other 
financial assets carried at fair value is 
recorded according to the terms of the 
contract and is recognised in the income 
statement.

Dividends and distributions

Dividend and distribution revenue is 
recognised when the Fund’s right to 
receive payment is established. Revenue is 
presented gross of any non-recoverable 
withholding taxes, which are disclosed 
separately as a tax expense in the income 
statement.

(h) Income tax

The Fund is a complying superannuation 
fund for the purposes of the provisions of 
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 
Accordingly the concessional tax rate of 
15% has been applied to the Fund’s 
taxable income.

Income tax in the income statement for the 
year comprises current and deferred tax. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used 
to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance date.

Deferred tax is provided on all temporary 
differences at the balance date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(n) Significant accounting judgements and estimates and assumptions (continued)

• An entity that obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investors with investment services;

• An entity that commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment 
income or both; and

• An entity that measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis.

The Fund’s product disclosure statement details its objective of providing services to members which includes investing in equities, fixed 
income securities and private equity for the purpose of returns in the form of investment income and capital appreciation.

The Fund reports to its members via an annual report, and to its management, via internal management reports, on a fair value basis. All 
investments are reported at fair value to the extent allowed by AASB 1056 in the Fund’s annual report. The Fund has a clearly documented 
exit strategy for all of its investments.

The Trustee has also concluded that the Fund meets the additional characteristics of an investment entity, in that it has more than one 
investment; the investments are predominantly in the form of equities and similar securities; it has more than one investor and its investors 
are not related parties.

The Trustee has therefore concluded that the Fund meets the definition of an investment entity. These conclusions will be reassessed on an 
annual basis, if any of these criteria or characteristics change.

Valuation of defined benefit member liabilities

The amount of member liabilities in relation to defined benefits has been determined using actuarial valuation techniques and 
assumptions. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions about the future. Actual developments in the future may differ 
from these assumptions. The assumptions are in respect of member turnover, future investment returns, mortality rates and future salary 
increases. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long term nature, defined benefit member liabilities are highly sensitive 
to changes in these assumptions. Assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

(o) Investment properties

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions, at the reporting date. Fair 
value is determined based on annual evaluation performed by an accredited external independent valuer, applying a valuation model 
recommended by the International Valuation Standards Committee. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment 
properties are recognised in the income statement in the period which they arise. 

Investment properties are derecognised when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no 
further economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset is recognised in the income statement in the period of derecognition.

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(k) Foreign currency (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at which 
they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in a previous financial report, are recognised in the income statement in the 
period in which they arise.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date 
of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined.

(l) Member liabilities

Member liabilities are measured at the amount of accrued benefits.

Defined benefit member liabilities are measured as the amount of investments that would be needed as at the reporting date to yield 
future net cash inflows that would be sufficient to meet accrued benefits as at that date when they are expected to fall due.

Defined contribution member liabilities are measured as the amount of member account balances as at the reporting date.

(m) Reserves

The Fund maintains an Operational risk reserve, in accordance with the requirements established by the Australian Prudential Regulatory 
Authority under Prudential Standard SPS 114 Operational Risk Financial Requirement, and also holds Administration and Investment 
reserves. The purpose of these additional reserves is set out in Note 13.

The purpose of the Operational risk reserve is to provide protection to the Fund in the event that a loss is incurred from an operational risk event 
occurring. The use of the Operational risk reserve is governed by the requirements of SPS 114, which is applicable to all APRA-regulated funds.

All reserves operate in accordance with the Fund’s Reserves Policy and are held at Fund level.

(n) Significant accounting judgements and estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Fund’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

Fair Value of Investments

When the fair values of the investments recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be measured based on quoted prices in 
active markets, their fair value is measured using alternative valuation techniques. The inputs in these models are taken from observable 
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required to establish fair values.

Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.

Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of these investments.

Assessment as investment entity

Entities that meet the definition of an investment entity within AASB 10 Consolidated financial statements, are required to measure their 
subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss rather than consolidate them. The Fund has the following unconsolidated subsidiaries listed 
below together with the criteria which define an investment entity:

Unconsolidated subsidiary
Principal place of 

business

Ownership 
interest 

%

Nordic Windfarm Holdco Limited United Kingdom 80 

Saren Infrastructure AS Norway 100 

Royale Investment Trust Australia 96.9 

Infrastructure House Trust Australia 100 

50 Miller Street Trust Australia 99.4 

CitiLink Property Trust Australia 100 
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4. Defined benefit member liabilities (continued)
(b) Annual financial reporting of accrued liabilities

The Trustee engages the Fund Actuary on an annual basis to measure the defined benefit members liabilities. The Fund has no information 
that would lead to adjustments to the assumptions.

The actuarial valuation of member liabilities reflects the actuarial assessment of the benefits accrued up to the reporting date and payable 
to members on retirement, resignation, death and disability. This annual assessment may result in an employer being required to make 
additional contributions to the Fund.

The key assumptions used to determine the values of accrued benefits for the Fund were:

• The future rate of investment earnings (net of investment taxes and fees); and

• The future rate of salary growth.

The Trustee has a number of steps in place to manage the risks associated with the defined benefit plan. The Trustee engages the Fund 
Actuary to advise on the risks, including establishing suitable funding objectives. These funding objectives and the defined benefit plan’s 
circumstances are taken into account by the Fund Actuary when recommending the required employer contribution levels.

The Trustee also uses sensitivity analysis to monitor the potential impact of changes to key variables about which assumptions need to be 
made. The Fund has identified two assumptions (being the discount rate and the rate of salary adjustment) for which changes are 
reasonably possible that would have a material impact on the amount of the defined benefit member liabilities.

i.  The assumed future rate of investment earnings has been determined by reference to investment returns expected on an investment 
portfolio that reflects the opportunities reasonably available to the Fund in the investment markets, and also reflects the Fund’s actual 
investments and investment strategy in respect of defined benefit member liabilities. 

ii.  The assumed annual salary adjustment has been determined after discussion with the employer-sponsor. The assumption reflects current 
market rates for inflation, real economic growth, the share of economic growth of employees and promotional increases.

The other variables about which assumptions have been made in measuring defined benefit member liabilities and for which changes are 
not considered reasonably possible, or for which reasonably possible changes would not be expected to have a material effect, include: 
mortality and disability rates and resignations rates.

The following are sensitivity calculations on a univariate basis for the investment return and rate of salary adjustment assumptions for the 
defined benefit plan.

Key assumption Reasonable possible change DB-sub plans

Increase in  
member liabilities 

$’000

Investment return 1% p.a. lower Caulfield Grammar School 1,592

Geelong Grammar School 197

Xavier College 884

Total 2,673

Salary adjustment rate 1% p.a. higher Caulfield Grammar School 1,487

Geelong Grammar School 156

Xavier College 752

Total 2,395

For financial reporting purposes, defined benefit members’ benefits exclude those members’ additional accumulation amounts as these 
amounts are reported as “DC member benefits” in the Statement of Changes in Members Benefits.

This financial reporting definition of defined benefit liabilities is used in the calculation and reporting of vested benefits and actuarial 
liabilities in respect of the defined benefit members.

3. Defined contribution member liabilities
Member account balances are determined by crediting rates that are determined based on the underlying investment movements. 

Members bear the investment risk relating to the underlying assets and crediting rates used to measure the member liabilities.

At 30 June 2019 $4,868,022 (2018: $6,581,564) have not been allocated to members’ account at balance date. The amount not yet allocated 
to members’ accounts consists of contributions and insurance proceeds received by the Fund that have not been able to be allocated to 
members’ accounts as at balance date.

Refer to Note 20 for the Fund’s management of the investment risks.

Member liabilities vest 100% to members.
2019  

$’000
2018  
$’000

Member liabilities as at end of the financial year 5,028,831 3,840,140

 
4. Defined benefit member liabilities
On 1 January 2019 Combined Super Fund transferred three defined benefit sub-plans to the Fund as disclosed in note 8.

(a) Defined benefit arrangements

The liability for accrued benefits is the present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries for those sub-plans operating as a 
defined benefit sub-plan and has been calculated on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from 
membership of the Fund up to the relevant year end of that sub-plan. The figure reported has been determined by reference to expected 
future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.

The Trustee has appointed an actuary for the Fund (“Fund Actuary”) to conduct periodic comprehensive actuarial review on the valuations 
of accrued benefits.

The liability for accrued benefits as at the last valuation date are set out below for the three defined benefits sub-plans:

Caulfield Grammar School
1 January 2019  

$’000

Liability for accrued benefits 47,264 

Net assets available to pay benefits 50,261

The Caulfield Grammar Superannuation Plan was in a “satisfactory financial position” as at 1 January 2019 as defined in SIS legislation with 
assets in excess of vested benefits.

The next triennial actuarial valuation review is due to be performed as at 30 June 2022. Refer to Note 7 (a) for funding arrangement.

Geelong Grammar School
1 January 2019  

$’000

Liability for accrued benefits 6,261 

Net assets available to pay benefits 7,943

The Geelong Grammar Superannuation Plan was in a “satisfactory financial position” as at 1 January 2019 as defined in SIS legislation with 
assets in excess of vested benefits.

The next triennial actuarial valuation review is due to be performed as at 30 June 2022. Refer to Note 7 (a) for funding arrangement.

Xavier College
1 January 2019  

$’000

Liability for accrued benefits 21,922 

Net assets available to pay benefits 26,445

The Xavier College Superannuation Plan was in a “satisfactory financial position” as at 1 January 2019 as defined in SIS legislation with 
assets in excess of vested benefits.

The next triennial actuarial valuation review is due to be performed as at 30 June 2022. Refer to Note 7 (a) for funding arrangement.
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7. Funding arrangements (continued)
(a) Defined benefits arrangements

In determining employer and member contribution rates, the Fund Actuary has considered long-term trends in such factors as Fund 
membership, salary growth and the average market value of Fund assets.

i) Caulfield Grammar School

The Fund has received a report on the Actuarial Investigation dated 28 June 2019 from the Fund Actuary regarding the financial position of 
the sub-fund as at 1 January 2019. According to this report, the Plan was in a satisfactory financial position with the coverage of defined 
vested benefits increased from 108% at 1 January 2018 to 108.1% at 1 January 2019.

The main reasons for the decreased ratio of assets to vested benefits are the following items of negative experience:

• the Fund earned an investment return of -0.9% p.a which was lower than the long term rate adopted in the previous investigation of 5.7% 
p.a, largely offset by crediting rates lower than assumed.

• average salary growth of 3.9% p.a, which was higher than the assumed salary growth rate of 3.5% p.a. increases.

Therefore, the Fund Actuary recommended that the Employer continue to make regular contributions to the Fund of 10% of members’ 
salaries, plus any salary sacrifice or deemed member contributions.

ii) Geelong Grammar School

The Fund has received a report on the Actuarial Investigation dated 28 June 2019 from the Fund Actuary regarding the financial position of 
the sub-fund as at 1 January 2019. According to this report, the Plan was in a satisfactory financial position with the coverage of defined 
vested benefits decreased from 128.4% at 1 January 2018 to 119.9% at 1 January 2019.

The main reasons for the decreased ratio of assets to vested benefits are the following items of negative experience:

• the Fund earned an investment return of -0.9% per annum which was lower than the long term rate adopted in the previous investigation 
of 5.5% p.a, and

• the backdated transfer of one member from Category B1 to Category A1.

The negative experience was partially offset by salary growth of 1.9% which was lower than assumed.

Based on the financial position as at 1 January 2019, the Fund Actuary recommends that it would be appropriate for Employer 
contributions (including deemed member contributions of 8% (Category A1) of salary from before-tax salary) for all defined benefit 
members to be met from the General Reserves (referred to as Reserve Account A in the Plan’s rules) for the time being.

The Fund Actuary recommendeds that the Employer contributes at the following rates:

• Nil contributions for Category A1 (Defined Benefit)

• 10% of total salary, less group salary continuance premiums for Category A (Accumulation) members (subject to a minimum of 9.50% of 
ordinary time earnings)

• 9% of salary for Category B (Accumulation) members (subject to a minimum of 9.5% of ordinary time earnings)

• Member contributions from before-tax salary (other than Category A1 deemed member contributions met from the General Reserve)

• Any other contributions agreed between the Employer and a member (e.g. additional salary sacrifice contributions).

4. Defined benefit member liabilities (continued)
(b) Annual financial reporting of accrued liabilities (continued)

30 June 2019

Caulfield 
Grammar 

School 
$’000

Geelong 
Grammar 

School 
$’000

Xavier 
College 

$’000
Total 

$’000 

Accrued defined benefit liabilities reported as DB members benefits 52,950 6,411 18,918 78,279

(c) Net assets available to meet liabilities for accrued benefits of the defined benefits arrangements as at 30 June 2019:

Note
2019  
$’000

Caulfield Grammar School 56,867 

Geelong Grammar School 8,631 

Xavier College 25,528 

Total net assets of the defined benefit sub-plans of the Fund  91,026

 
5. Defined benefits that are overfunded

2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

Prime Super defined benefit plan 12,747  N/A 

The Fund remains in surplus. The employer-sponsors are contributing at the rates recommended by the Acutary.

 
6. Guaranteed benefits
No guarantees have been made in respect of any part of the liability for accrued benefits.

 
7. Funding arrangements
The funding policy adopted in respect of the Fund is directed in ensuring that benefits accruing to members and beneficiaries are fully 
funded as the benefits fall due.

As such, in framing employer contribution rates, the Fund Actuary has considered long-term trends in factors such as membership, salary 
growth, investment earnings and average market value of investments of the Fund. Thus, any difference between the Net Assets Available 
for Member Benefits and the Accrued Benefits has been anticipated.

For members with an accumulation account the percentage of salary or wages of employees prescribed as the rate of compulsory 
employer (Superannuation Guarantee) contributions between 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 was 9.50% (1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018: 9.50%). 
Member and additional employer contributions are paid to the Fund at a rate determined by the member and/or employer.

Employees with defined benefits contribute to the Fund at varying rates between 0% and 10% of salary for superannuation purposes.

Employees may also make contributions to an accumulation account.
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8. Successor fund transfer in
On 30 August 2018 Prime Super Fund and Combined Super Fund signed a Successor Fund Transfer Deed in relation to a merger of the two 
Funds.

On 31 December 2018 Combined Super Fund transferred all of its members and their benefits to the Fund. In total 8,852 members were 
transferred with total net assets of $895,233,634.

These were represented by:

31 December 
2018  

$’000

Investments

Fair Value of Investments 843,553 

Other Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 56,610 

Other debtors and prepayments 4,376 

60,986 

Total Assets 904,539 

Liabilities

Current tax liabilities 883 

Deferred tax liabilities 6,360 

Sundry creditors 2,063 

Total Liabilities 9,306 

Net assets available for members benefits  895,234 

Represented by:

Liability for accrued member benefits

Defined contribution member benefits 802,358 

Defined benefit member benefits 76,773 

Unallocated to members’ accounts 1,253 

Total Member Liabilities 880,384 

Total Net Assets / (Liabilities) 14,850 

Equity

ORFR Reserve 2,309 

General Reserve 2,395 

Defined Benefit Surplus 10,146 

Total Equity 14,850 

7. Funding arrangements (continued)
(a) Defined benefits arrangements (continued)

iii) Xavier College

The Fund has received a report on the Actuarial Investigation dated 28 June 2019 from the Fund Actuary regarding the financial position of 
the sub-fund as at 1 January 2019. According to this report, the Plan was in a satisfactory financial position with assets in excess of 100% of 
Vested Benefits. The 120.8% coverage of Vested Benefits was also above the financing objective of 110% coverage adopted for this 
investigation.

The coverage levels as at 1 January 2019 were higher than the levels at the previous actuarial investigation.

The main item of positive experience was due to the reduction in the number of members from 90 to 69, which resulted in the excess of 
assets over accrued liabilities spread over a smaller membership.

This was partially offset by:

• Employer contributions less than the cost of benefits accruing, due to the recommended contribution holiday which commenced 
effective 1 January 2018;

• Investment earnings of 5.5% p.a, which were were lower than the long term rate (5.7% p.a);

• Salary growth of 3.2% p.a which was higher than assumed (3.0% p.a)

In this report, the Fund Actuary recommended that the Employer contributes at the following rates:

• Nil in respect of members aged under 65 from 1 January 2019; plus

• Award contributions of 2.5% of Ordinary Time Earnings in respect of members under age 65 who elected to have “Award” contributions 
made to the Plan; plus

• 7% of the excess, if any, of Ordinary Time Earnings over superannuation salary, in respect of members under age 65; plus

• 9.5% of Ordinary Time Earnings, less any amounts paid to other funds, in respect of members who have attained age 65; plus

• Member contributions from pre-tax salary; plus

• Any additional contributions agreed between the Employer and a member (e.g. additional salary sacrifice contributions).

(b) Contribution levels

Each participating employer and member has set their contributions at levels that are within the maximum contributions allowed under the 
Income Tax Assessment Act.

Caulfield Grammar School, Xavier College and Geelong Grammar School have each set their Defined Benefit contribution rates, at 
minimum, according to the recommendations contained within their respective actuarial reports as set out in Note 7(a).
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9. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(a) Classification of financial instruments under the fair value hierarchy (continued)

Valuation technique

Unlisted debt

The Fund invests in debt securities, corporate and government bonds which are classified as Credit Opportunities financial instruments 
by the Fund. In the absence of a quoted price in an active market, they are valued using observable inputs such as recently executed 
transaction prices in securities of the issuer or comparable issuers and yield curves. Adjustments are made to the valuations when necessary 
to recognise differences in the instrument’s terms. To the extent that the significant inputs are observable, the Fund categorises these 
investments as Level 2.

Listed equities

When fair values of publicly traded equity securities are based on quoted market prices, or binding dealer price quotations, in an active 
market for identical assets without any adjustments, the instruments are included within Level 1 of the hierarchy. The Fund values these 
investments at bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions.

Private equity investments and unlisted equities

The Fund invests in private equity companies which are not quoted in an active market. Transactions in such investments do not occur 
on a regular basis. The Fund uses a market based valuation technique for these positions. The Fund’s investment manager determines 
comparable public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and strategy, and calculates an appropriate trading multiple for 
each comparable company identified. The multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable company by an 
earnings measure. The trading multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and differences between the comparable 
companies based on company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to the corresponding earnings measure 
of the investee company to measure the fair value. The Fund classifies the fair value of these investments as Level 3.

Unlisted unit trusts

The Fund invests in these trusts which are not quoted in an active market and which may be subject to restrictions on redemptions such as 
lock up periods, redemption gates and side pockets. The Fund has identified these unlisted unit trusts as International Shares, Emerging 
Markets, Australian Fixed Interest, International Fixed Interest, Property, Private Equity and Absolute Return Strategies financial instruments. 
The Fund considers the valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing these funds as part of its due diligence prior to investing, to ensure 
they are reasonable and appropriate and therefore the Net Asset Value (“NAV”) of these funds may be used as an input into measuring 
their fair value. In measuring this fair value, the NAV of the Fund is adjusted, as necessary, to reflect restrictions on redemptions, future 
commitments, and other specific factors of the Fund and fund manager.

In measuring fair value, consideration is also paid to any transactions in the shares of the Fund. Depending on the nature and level of 
adjustments needed to the NAV and the level of trading in the Fund, the Fund classifies these funds as either Level 2 or 3.

Derivative assets and liabilities

The Fund uses widely recognised valuation models for determining fair values of over-the-counter interest rate swaps, currency swaps and 
forward foreign exchange contracts. The most frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, using 
present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs including both credit and debit valuation adjustments for counterparty 
and own credit risk, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves. For these financial instruments, significant inputs into 
models are market observable and are included within Levels 1 and 2.

Valuation process for Level 3 valuations

Valuations are the responsibility of the board of directors of the Trustee.

The valuation of these investments will generally require an assessment of their unobservable inputs, such as cash flows, investment terms, 
financial performance and outlook, comparable market transactions and an assessment of the relevant equity discount rates. As per the 
valuation policy, independent valuers are appointed to undertake this assessment and provide an estimate of the market value of these 
investment on at least an annual basis. The independent values are reviewed and the results presented to the board of directors of the Trustee.

For financial instruments classified in Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy some of the inputs to the valuation models are unobservable and 
therefore subjective in nature. The use of reasonably possible alternative assumptions could produce a different fair value measurement.

9. Fair value of financial instruments
(a) Classification of financial instruments under the fair value hierarchy

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires disclosures relating to fair value measurements using a three-level fair value hierarchy. The level 
within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset 
or liability. The following table shows financial instruments recognised at fair value, categorised between those whose fair value is based 
on:

 - Level 1 : Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

 - Level 2 : Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable.

 - Level 3 : Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

30 June 2019

Level 1  
$’000

Level 2  
$’000

Level 3  
$’000

Total  
$’000

Australian Shares  1,171,596  3,403  10  1,175,009 

International Shares  6  1,122,897  -  1,122,903 

Emerging Markets  2  288,490  -  288,492 

Australian Fixed Interest  226  156,962  -  157,188 

International Fixed Interest  5,327  338,113  -  343,440 

Infrastructure  236  20,243  481,313  501,792 

Property  365  1,832  365,616  367,814 

Credit Opportunities  5,376  123,999  240,236  369,612 

Private Equity  483  12,180  20,326  32,989 

Absolute Return Strategies 12  228,768  -  228,780 

Derivative Assets  7,505  -  - 7,505 

Derivative Liabilities  - (19,079) - (19,079)

30 June 2018

Level 1  
$’000

Level 2  
$’000

Level 3  
$’000

Total  
$’000

Australian Shares 853,994 3,237  10 857,241 

International Shares 2 835,968  - 835,970 

Emerging Markets  - 220,458  - 220,458 

Australian Fixed Interest  - 117,716  - 117,716 

International Fixed Interest 4,390 258,175  - 262,565 

Infrastructure 1,540 6,025 397,234 404,799 

Property 8,677 2,175 178,087 188,939 

Credit Opportunities 1,394 98,348 229,748 329,490 

Private Equity 738 16,161 20,173 37,072 

Absolute Return Strategies 50 156,038  - 156,088 

Derivative Assets 2,865  -  - 2,865 

Derivative Liabilities  - (35,677) - (35,677)
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9. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(b) Level 3 reconciliation

The following table shows a reconciliation of the movement in the fair value of financial instruments categorised within Level 3 between the 
beginning and the end of the reporting period:

30 June 2019
Property  

$’000

Australian 
Equities  

$’000
Other  
$’000

Total  
$’000

Opening balance  178,087  10  647,155  825,252 

Total realised/unrealised gains and (losses)  70,761  -  92,508  163,269 

Purchases/Applications  114,736  -  115,182  229,918 

Sales/Redemptions  (6,279)  -  (110,064)  (116,344)

Transfers into / (out of) Level 3  8,312  -  (2,907)  5,405 

Closing Balance  365,617  10  741,874  1,107,501 

30 June 2018
Property  

$’000

Australian 
Equities  

$’000
Other  
$’000

Total  
$’000

Opening balance  104,912  -  464,320  569,232 

Total realised/unrealised gains and (losses)  25,068  21,638  59,668  106,374 

Purchases/Applications  4,202  170  69,576  73,948 

Sales/Redemptions  (6,037)  (13,185)  (43,514)  (62,736)

Transfers into / (out of) Level 3  49,942  (8,613)  97,105  138,434 

Closing Balance  178,087  10  647,155  825,252

(c) Transfers Between Hierarchy Levels

There have been no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the financial year. (2018: Transfer out from Level 3 financial 
instruments of $4,620,000).

9. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(a) Classification of financial instruments under the fair value hierarchy (continued)

Generally the categorisation within the fair value hierarchy is based on the inputs valuation techniques used to measure the fair value. The 
source of prices and valuation basis will vary depending on the security types. In principle, the observability and market activity determine 
the categorisation of an input.

Level 3 classification within the fair value hierarchy is determined using inputs that are not based on observable market data (i.e. 
unobservable inputs) or other Level 3 criteria are met. If a stock is in an inactive/illiquid market and is valued using models and internal data 
or if there is no vendor coverage for more than 365 days, then it is categorised as Level 3.

If the impact of using those alternative assumptions would cause the fair value of Level 3 assets to be higher or lower by 5% of the net 
assets of the Fund then the result for the year would have been higher or lower (in thousands) by $20,882 (2018: $19,862) for infrastructure, 
by $14,197 (2018: 8,904) for property and by $9,549 (2018: $11,487) for credit opportunities.

Description Level 3 $ Valuation technique
Significant inputs and its 
relationship to fair value

Unlisted debt;

Private equity investments  
and Unlisted equities;

Unlisted unit trusts

2019: $1,107,501

2018: $825,252

Discounted cash flow valuation • Revenue cash flows

• Expense cash flows

• Debt financing

• Equity discount rate

• Terminal value of the asset

Market comparables approach • EV/EBITDA multiple of 
comparable listed entity

• EV/EBITA multiple of 
comparable transaction

• Asset-specific factors which 
affect the selling price of a 
comparable asset

Market yield approach • Yield spread

• Asset-specific factors which 
affect the yield spread of 
comparable assets

Net asset value based on value 
of of underlying investment

Similar to key inputs for 
discounted cash flow valuations 
and market comparables 
approach
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12. Changes in assets measured at fair value
2019  

$’000
2018  

$’000

Investments held at balance date

Australian Shares 71,158 94,888 

International Shares 76,661 65,544 

Emerging Markets 4,519 16,568 

Australian Fixed Interest 9,095 120 

International Fixed Interest 10,285 (101)

Infrastructure 7,507 6,280 

Property 19,641 19,428 

Credit Opportunities 5,608 14,866 

Private Equity (857) (3,514)

Absolute Return Strategies 4,101 (1,373)

Derivatives (7,521) (24,812)

Total unrealised gains/(losses) 200,197  187,894 

Investments realised during the year

Australian Shares (44,326)  9,661 

International Shares (12,426)  - 

Emerging Markets 1,321  110 

Cash 36  (408)

Australian Fixed Interest 1,355  (74)

International Fixed Interest (5,360)  (2,572)

Infrastructure (229)  (349)

Property 2,637  9 

Credit Opportunities (311)  (114)

Private Equity (550)  (225)

Derivatives (16,656)  (7,601)

Total realised gains/(losses)  (74,509)  (1,563)

Change in fair value of investments  125,688  186,331

The amounts recorded as ‘realised gains/(losses)’ above is the difference between the fair value at sale and the carrying amount at the 
beginning of the reporting period or when acquired, if acquired during the year.

10. Receivables
2019  

$’000
2018  
$’000

Recoverable within 12 months

GST receivable 407  435 

Sundry debtors 182 -

Prepayments 15  16 

Sundry receivables 262  197 

 866  648 

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Information regarding credit risk exposure is set out in Note 20.

 
11. Payables

2019 
 $’000

2018  
$’000

Insurance premiums payable 3,749  1,762 

Investment management fees payable  2,925  2,105 

Operating expenses payable  1,722  1,886 

Provision for employee benefits 889  883 

Sundry Creditors 1,819  35 

 11,104  6,671 

Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

Information regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk exposure is set out in Note 20. 
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14. Income tax (continued)
(c) Deferred Tax

2019

Opening 
Balance  

$’000

(Charged)/ 
Credited to 

income  
$’000

Closing 
Balance  

$’000

Deferred tax assets

Fund expenses accrued but not incurred  1,030 539  1,569 

 1,030 539  1,569 

Deferred tax liabilities

Income receivable  (651) 110 (541)

Unrealised gains on investments (59,562) (22,388) (81,951)

(60,213) (22,278) (82,492)

Net deferred tax (liability) / asset (59,183) (21,739) (80,923)

2018

Opening 
Balance  

$’000

(Charged)/ 
Credited to 

income  
$’000

Closing 
Balance  

$’000

Deferred tax assets

Fund expenses accrued but not incurred 1,080 (50)  1,030 

1,080 (50)  1,030 

Deferred tax liabilities

Income receivable (787) 136  (651)

Unrealised gains on investments  (40,031) (19,531) (59,562)

(40,818) (19,395) (60,213)

Net deferred tax liability / asset (39,738) (19,445) (59,183)

The Fund offsets deferred tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax 
liabilities.

13. Reserves
2019  

$’000
2018  
$’000

Other reserves

 Administration reserve 4,309  5,929 

 Investment reserve 1,548  3,766 

 Defined benefits that over/(under) funded 12,747  - 

18,604  9,695 

Operational risk reserve 13,089  9,830 

 31,693  19,525

The purpose of the Operational risk reserve is to provide protection to the Fund in the event that a loss is incurred from an operational risk 
event occurring. The use of the Operational risk reserve is governed by the requirements of SPS 114, which is applicable to all APRA-
regulated funds. The current Operational risk reserve represents approximately 0.25% (2018: 0.25%) of the total assets of the Fund. The 
Trustee intends to maintain this reserve at 0.25% of total assets.

The purpose of the Administration reserve is to cover operational expenses not met by fee deduction from members.

The Investment reserve is used to receive and distribute net investment income to members. Investment related expenses are met from 
this reserve.

 
14. Income tax

2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

(a) Major components of income tax expenses for the years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018:

Income statement

Current tax expense

 Current tax charged (6,896)  5,215 

 Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years 2,645 10,421 

Deferred tax

 Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 21,740 19,445 

Total tax expense as reported in the income statement 17,489  35,082 

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expenses and the accounting profit before income tax

Profit/(loss) from operating activities 14,807 15,746 

Income tax at 15% 2,221 2,362 

 Non-deductible administration expenses 182 4 

 Derecognition of temporary differences (2,117) 3,170 

 Net benefit allocated to member accounts 44,497 44,987 

 Anti-detriment deduction  - 404 

 Assessable investment income from custodian 23,562 17,605 

 Non-assessable capital gains/(losses) 27,056 24,556 

 Non-assessable investment income (54,088) (53,096)

 Exempt pension income (2,460) (2,720)

 Net imputation and foreign tax credits (24,009) (12,611)

 Under/(over) provision in the previous year 2,645 10,421 

17,489  35,082
 



76    Prime Super Annual Report 2019 Prime Super Annual Report 2019    77

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019

18. Segment information
The Fund operates solely in one reportable business segment, being the provision of superannuation benefits to members. The Fund also 
operates from one reportable geographic segment, being Australia, from where its activities are managed. Whilst the Fund operates in 
Australia only, the Fund has investment exposures in different countries and across different industries. Revenue is derived from interest, 
dividends, gains on the sale of investments, unrealised changes in the value of investments, and contributions revenue.

19. Related party disclosures
(a) Trustee and Key Management Personnel

The Trustee of the Fund is Prime Super Pty Ltd and is a holder of a Registrable Superannuation Entity Licence (Licence No.L0000277).

The following people were directors of Prime Super Pty Ltd during the year ended 30 June 2019 and up to the date of signing these 
financial statements:

Alan Bowman (Chairman) Brett Lazarides (appointed 01/01/2019)

David Cooper Gary Bonello (appointed 01/01/2019)

Gerard Parlevliet Raymond Russell (appointed 01/01/2019)

Duncan Fraser Matthew Scholten (appointed 01/01/2019)

Martin Day Gavin Watson (appointed 01/01/2019)

Jacqueline Kelly Benedict Davis (appointed 27/08/2019)

Liam O’Brien (ceased 27/02/2019)

Other key management personnel of the Fund are:

Lachlan Baird Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary

Stephen Pratt General Manager - Operations (ceased 09/01/2019)

Ann Wong General Manager - Risk and Compliance

Jane Kang General Manager - Investments

Remo Memmolo Chief Financial Officer

Luke Banfield Chief Operating Officer (appointed 10/01/2019)

George Kogios General Manager - Strategy (appointed 02/05/2019)

15. Operating expenses
2019  

$’000
2018 
$’000

APRA & ASIC fees 327  317 

Audit and taxation fees 648  290 

Consulting fees  810  719 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment costs  228  102 

Legal fees 238  174 

Marketing expenses  424  282 

Sponsorship and advertising expenses  1,931  1,840 

Trustee expenses  10,808  8,265 

Trustee and other liability insurance  256  180 

Other administration expenses  585  465 

 16,255  12,634

 
16. Auditors’ remuneration

2019  
$

2018  
$

Amount received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young for:

 Audit of financial statements and annual APRA forms 128,205  130,380 

 Agreed upon procedures for investments 72,104  12,378 

Amount received or due and receivable by KPMG for:

 General internal audit services  314,447  92,972 

 Professional taxation services 242,842 108,738 

757,598 344,468

 
17. Cash flow statement reconciliation
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial 
position as follows:

2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 15,546  12,161 

Reconciliation of net cash from operating activities to net profit after income tax 

Profit / (loss) after income tax (2,682) (19,336)

Adjustments for:

(Increase)/decrease in assets measured at fair value (360,580) (353,966)

Other non-cash items  228  102 

(Increase/decrease in insurance (9,246) (3,856)

(Increase)/decrease in receivables  -  5 

Increase/(decrease) in payables 4,280 126 

Increase/(decrease) in income tax payable 9,633  27,334 

Anti-detriment deduction  -  488 

Allocation to members’ accounts 296,645  299,911 

Net cash outflows from operating activities (61,721) (49,192)
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20. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(a) Introduction

The Fund’s principal financial instruments comprise equities, private equity, units in unit trusts, fixed interest securities, infrastructure, 
properties and cash. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to generate a return on investment.

The Fund also has other financial instruments such as receivables and payables, which arise directly from its operations; these are 
considered insignificant and are mainly current in nature.

The Fund enters into derivative transactions, principally fixed interest futures and foreign exchange contracts, for the purpose of managing 
financial risks associated with the Fund’s investment transactions, and as a means of effecting a change in the asset mix. Investments in 
derivatives are limited to the asset allocation limits for the underlying investment class.

Risks arising from holding financial instruments are inherent in the Fund’s activities, and are managed through a process of ongoing 
identification, measurement and monitoring. The Fund is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including interest rate risk, 
equity price risk and foreign currency risk.

The Trustee recognises that there are risks arising from holding financial instruments. These risks are identified, monitored and managed by 
appropriately applying relevant controls. Oversight of these risks is carried out by the Trustee through the Investment Committee with 
advice from an external investment adviser and internal management.

The Trustee is responsible for identifying and controlling the risks that arise from these financial instruments. The Trustee reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks as summarised below. The Trustee also monitors the market price risk arising from all 
financial instruments.

This information is prepared and reported to the Trustee on a regular basis.

Concentrations of risk arise when a number of financial instruments or contracts are entered into with the same counterparty, or when a 
number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, have activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic 
features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other 
conditions.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Trustee monitors its exposure to ensure concentrations of risk remain within 
acceptable levels as per the Fund’s Investment Policy Statement and either reduces exposure or uses derivative instruments to manage the 
excessive risk concentrations when they arise.

The Fund’s accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out in Note 2.

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Fund. As a means 
of mitigating the risk of financial loss, the Fund has adopted the policy of spreading the aggregate value of transactions concluded 
amongst approved counterparties with at least investment grade qualities. The Fund’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties 
are monitored by the Trustee.

Credit risk arising on investments is mitigated by extensive pre-appointment due diligence on investment managers, specific investment 
agreements, appropriate monitoring and benchmark analysis.

The Fund does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar 
characteristics. It is the opinion of the Trustee that the carrying amounts of these financial assets represent the maximum credit risk 
exposure at the reporting date. There are no financial assets that are past due or impaired.

19. Related party disclosures (continued)
(b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

Short-term employee benefits (Salaries, Director fees, Annual Leave)  2,241  2,087 

Post-employment benefits (superannuation)  256  161 

Other long-term benefits (Long Service Leave)  17  25 

Total Compensation  2,514  2,273

Compensation of key management personnel represents remuneration of the executive officers of the Fund and fees paid to each director 
of the Trustee for services rendered for the Fund. 

Director’s remuneration is paid by the Trustee and is reimbursed by the Fund.

There are no other transactions with key management personnel.

The following directors and key management personnel were members of Prime Super during the reporting period and up to the date of 
the financial statements:

Lachlan Baird Remo Memmolo

Alan Bowman Ann Wong

David Cooper Jane Kang

Duncan Fraser Gary Bonello

Martin Day Raymond Russell

Jacqueline Kelly Gavin Watson

Gerard Parlevliet George Kogios

Their membership terms and conditions are the same as those applied to other members of the Fund.

(c) Related Party Transactions

During the financial year the Fund has provided reimbursement for services rendered by Prime Super Pty Ltd, e.g. director fees and 
superannuation guarantee payments, allowances, training, director travel expenses, KPMG consulting fees and trustee liability insurance.

The following related party transactions occurred during the 2019 financial year.

(i) Trustee management fees to the value of $1,168,160 (2018: $777,684) were charged to Prime Super.

(ii) There is currently a receivable from Prime Super for $30,179 as at 30 June 2019 (2018: $18,055).

Remuneration for the ‘other key management personnel of the Fund’ is paid directly by Prime Super.
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20. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The Fund’s financial 
instruments include investments in unlisted investments that are not traded in an organised public market which generally may be illiquid. 
As a result, there is a risk that the Fund may not be able to liquidate all of these investments at their fair value in order to meet its liquidity 
requirements. This risk is controlled through the Fund’s investment monitoring and policies that ensures the Fund maintains sufficient cash 
and cash equivalents to meet normal operating requirements.

The Fund’s significant financial liabilities are payables, current tax liabilities and members’ liabilities.

The Fund manages its obligation to pay the defined contribution and defined benefit components on an expected maturity basis based on 
management’s estimates and past experience of when such funds will be drawn down by members. The Fund considers it is highly unlikely 
that all defined contribution members will request to roll over their superannuation fund at the same time.

Other financial liabilities of the Fund comprise insignificant trade and other payables which are typically settled within 30 days.

Year ended

Less than  
1 month 

$’000

Less than  
3 months 

$’000

3 months  
to 1 year 

$’000
1-5 years 

$’000
5+ years 

$’000
Total  

$’000

30 June 2019

Member liabilities 5,111,978  -  -  -  - 5,111,978

Payables 11,104  -  -  -  - 11,104

Net swaps  -  - (102) (4,068) (945) (5,115)

Futures  - (380) (48)  -  - (428)

Foreign exchange contract – Inflows 278  2,473  3,571  1,140  - 7,462

(Outflows) (3,368) (3,519) (6,359) (247)  - (13,493)

Total 5,119,992 (1,426) (2,938) (3,175) (945) 5,111,508

30 June 2018

Member liabilities 3,846,722  -  -  -  - 3,846,722 

Payables 6,671  -  -  -  - 6,671

Net swaps  -  -  - (2,047) (374) (2,421)

Futures  - (411)  -  -  - (411)

Foreign exchange contract – Inflows 478 316 783 341  - 1,918 

(Outflows) (6,725) (10,992) (12,564) (1,617)  - (31,898)

Total 3,847,146 (11,087) (11,781) (3,323) (374) 3,820,581
 

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

       

20. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(b) Credit Risk (continued)

The following table outlines Standard and Poor’s rating categories for direct investments of the Fund held in cash and cash equivalents as 
reflected on the statement of financial position. The rating category included in the table is that applicable to this Fund. The table excludes 
any rating categories applicable to the underlying assets of the pooled unit trusts and for other interest bearing securities where a rating is 
not publicly available.

Direct investments 
AAA to AA- 

$’000 
A+ to A 

$’000
BBB+ to BB 

$’000-
Total 

$’000

2019

Cash and cash equivalents 15,546  -  - 15,546

Managed funds/Cash 628,338  -  - 628,338

Total 643,884  -  - 643,884

2018

Cash and cash equivalents 12,161  -  - 12,161

Managed funds/Cash 539,215  -  - 539,215

Total 551,376  -  - 551,376
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20. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

The Fund’s statement of financial position and income statement can be affected by movements in foreign currencies (USD, GBP, EUR, YEN 
and other currencies) when translated to AUD. The Fund manages its exposure to foreign currency risk and mitigates effects of its foreign 
currency translation exposure by adhering to the Fund’s Investment Policy Statement which limits the portion of the Fund’s assets which can 
be invested in different currencies in addition to taking out foreign exchange contracts. Prime Super’s targeted level of foreign exposure is 
monitored on an ongoing basis and adjusted from time to time in accordance with any meaningful changes in business risk estimates or 
assessments regarding the medium-term outlook for the Australian dollar.

The table below indicates the currencies to which the Fund had significant exposure at 30 June 2019 on its monetary assets and liabilities 
and forecast cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against the Australian 
Dollar on the statement of financial position, with all other variables held constant where a +10%/-10% change in currency rate represents a 
depreciation/appreciation of the Australian Dollar relative to the foreign currency.

2019 2018

Currency

Change in 
currency rate 

%

Profit after 
income tax 

$’000

Change in 
currency rate 

%

Profit after 
income tax 

$’000

USD +10 17,962 +10 17,650

Euro +10 2,847 +10 3,045

Yen +10 2,540 +10 2,736

GBP +10 1277 +10 1,277

Other +10 (307) +10 (307)

2019 2018

Currency

Change in 
currency rate 

%

Profit after 
income tax 

$’000

Change in 
currency rate 

%

Profit after 
income tax 

$’000

USD -10 (17,962) -10 (17,650)

Euro -10 (2,847) -10 (3,045)

Yen -10 (2,540) -10 (2,736)

GBP -10 (1,277) -10 (1,277)

Other -10 307 -10 307

The change in currency rates used approximates the volatility as measured by a weighted basket of foreign exchange rate movements over 
the period between 1993 and 2019.

(iii) Other Price Risk       

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value of investments decreases or increases as a result of changes in market prices, whether those 
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual share price or factors affecting all equity instruments in the market. Equity price risk 
exposure arises from the Fund’s investment portfolio.

To limit price risk the Trustee diversifies its investment portfolio in line with the Fund’s Investment Policy Statement. The majority of equity 
investments are of a high quality and are publicly traded on recognised, reputable exchanges. The Trustee monitors the Fund’s exposure to 
various indices on an ongoing basis throughout the year ensuring the policy is not breached.

The effect on the income statement due to a reasonably possible change in market factors, as represented by the equity indices, with all 
other variables held constant is indicated in the table below.

20. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(d) Market risk

Market risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument (or its issuer) or factors affecting all instruments in 
the market. Market risk is minimised through ensuring that all investment activities are undertaken in accordance with established mandate 
limits and investment strategies.

Market risk comprises three types of risk:

• interest rate risk;

• currency risk; and

• other price risk.

(i) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of interest bearin 
financial instruments. The Fund has set investment allocation ranges to meet its objectives of holding a balanced portfolio, including limit 
on investments in interest bearing assets, which are monitored regularly.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the reporting date and the stipulated 
change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period. A 50 basis point increase or 
decrease with all other variables held constant is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to the Trustee and represents the Trustee’s 
assessment of the possible change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis as for 2018 and is not guaranteed.

The change in interest rates approximates the volatility as measured by the change in the RBA cash rate. This information is then adjusted 
for reasonableness under current economic circumstances.

Effect on

Change in variables: Profit after income tax
Net assets available for  

member benefits

2019  
+ / -

2018  
+ / -

2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

2019  
$’000

2018  
$’000

Interest rate risk

Variable interest securities 0.50% 0.50%  834  1,569  834  1,569 

Fixed interest securities 0.50% 0.50%  (4,723)  (4,397)  (4,723)  (4,397)

Swap 0.50% 0.50%  831  1,719  831  1,719 

Total  (3,058)  (1,109)  (3,058)  (1,109)

Interest rate risk

Variable interest securities -0.50% -0.50%  (834)  (1,567)  (834)  (1,567)

Fixed interest securities -0.50% -0.50%  4,724  4,398  4,724  4,398 

Swap -0.50% -0.50%  (831)  (1,719)  (831)  (1,719)

Total  3,059  1,112  3,059  1,112

(ii) Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The currency risk disclosures do not take into account the foreign exchange exposures as a result of direct investments 
denominated in Australian dollars and not on a look through basis. Currency risks in the unit trusts are managed by the respective 
managers of the unit trusts.
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Trustee Statement

In the opinion of the Trustee of Prime Super Fund:

(i)  the accompanying financial statements of Prime Super Fund are properly drawn up so as to present fairly the financial position of the 
Fund as at 30 June 2019 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia; and

(ii)  the Fund has been conducted in accordance with its constituent Trust Deed dated 16 November 1993 (as amended) and the 
requirements of the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 and Regulations and the Corporations Act 2001 and Regulations 
during the year.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of Prime Super Pty Ltd.

Signed at Melbourne this 24th day of September 2019.

 
 
 
 
 
Director

 
 
 

Director

20. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

2019 2018

Index/Benchmark

Change in 
investment price 

%

Effect on net assets/
investment returns 

$’000

Change in 
investment price 

%

Effect on net assets/
Investment returns 

$’000

Australian Shares 13.05 / (13.05) 151,312 / (151,312) 15.15 / (15.15) 110,391 / (110,391)

International Shares 12.7 / (12.7) 141,261 / (141,261) 14.8 / (14.8) 105,165 / (105,165)

Emerging Markets 17.25 / (17.25) 49,657 / (49,657) 20.25 / (20.25) 37,946 / (37,946)

Australian Fixed Interest 4 / (4) 5,344 / (5,344) 4 / (4) 4,002 / (4,002)

International Fixed Interest 3 / (3) 10,217 / (10,217) 3.5 / (3.5) 7,811 / (7,811)

Infrastructure 7.25 / (7.25) 31,989 / (31,989) 7.5 / (7.5) 25,806 / (25,806)

Property 6 / (6) 21,885 / (21,885) 7 / (7) 11,242 / (11,242)

Credit Opportunities 7 / (7) 25,919 / (25,919) 8.25 / (8.25) 23,102 / (23,105)

Private Equity 15 / (15) 3,715 / (3,715) 13.25 / (13.25) 4,175 / (4,175)

Absolute Return Strategies 6.25 / (6.25) 14,585 / (14,585)  7.5 / (7.5)  9,951 / (9,951)

The sensitivity analysis calculation for the infrastructure and other unlisted investments is determined based on the total of the unlisted unit 
 trusts, investment linked insurance policies and private equity and equities within these investments.

21. Insurance
The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. These benefits are greater than the members’ vested benefits and as such the 
Trustee has a group policy in place with a third party to insure death and disability benefits in excess of vested benefits. The Trustee acts as 
an agent for these arrangements.

22. Commitments and contingent liabilities
The Fund has no commitments or contingent liabilities.

23. Significant events after balance date
Since 30 June 2019 there have been no matters or circumstances which have arisen that have significantly affected or may significantly 
affect the financial position or operating results of the Fund.
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Report by the RSE Auditor
to the trustee and members

Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of Prime Super for the year ended 30 June 2019 comprising the statement of financial position, 
income statement, statement of changes in member benefits, statement of cash flows and statement of changes in reserves. 

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards the 
financial position of Prime Super as at 30 June 2019 and the results of its operations, cash flows, changes in reserves and changes in 
members’ benefits for the year ended 30 June 2019.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further described  
in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of my report. I am independent of the entity in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants  
(the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities  
in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Responsibilities of the trustee for the Financial Statements

The RSE’s trustee is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS Act) and the Superannuation 
Industry (Supervision) Regulations 1994 (SIS Regulations). The trustee is also responsible for such internal control as the trustee determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustee is responsible for assessing the ability of the RSE to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustee either 
intends to liquidate the RSE or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,  
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercised professional judgment and maintained professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. I also:

• Identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designed  
and performed audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide  
a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate  
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the RSE’s internal control.

• Evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the trustee.

• Concluded on the appropriateness of the trustee’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the RSE’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my auditor opinion. My auditor 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my audit report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the RSE to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Communicated with the trustee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identified during my audit.

John MacDonald
Partner 
Melbourne

24 September 2019
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Prime Super outsources a number of functions including 
administration of member accounts and insurance to third 
parties. The Fund’s key service providers are:

The Trustee will assist you with any questions 
you may have about the Fund and your 
membership. Information available includes, 
but is not limited to, annual reports, 
documents such as the Trust Deed, audited 
financial statements, auditor’s reports, 
investment strategy information, information 
on enquiries and complaints procedures, 
insurance policies and the risk management 
strategy. This information is available on the 
website or you may request it in hard copy. 

You can request information and answers 
to any questions by contacting us by mail, 
phone, fax or email.

Post  Prime Super  
 Locked Bag 5103  
 Parramatta NSW 2124 

Phone  Freecall 1800 675 839  
 (8am-8pm AEST 
 Monday – Friday) 

Fax  Freefax 1800 023 662 

Email  administration@primesuper.com.au 

Web  primesuper.com.au
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